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In 2009, the Group had more frequent contact with various overseas organisations to promote the status of 

privately-owned enterprises of China in overseas markets.

EDUCATION

In 2009, the Group continued to promote education by donating RMB15 million to set up Fosun Education 

Fund of Visual Art of Fudan University and donated RMB10 million to set up Fosun Guangcai Education Reward 

Fund in Hainan Province.

Other donations by the Group for basic education and education related projects are as follows:

In 2009, the Group donated RMB0.5 million to No. 1 Secondary School of Hengdian to set up the “Fosun 

Scholarship of Hengdian No. 1 Secondary School”; RMB0.15 million to the Shanghai Alumni Association of 

Fudan University; RMB0.5 million to the High School Affi liated to Renmin University of China; and RMB0.2 

million to Fudan University Education Development Foundation.

In June 2009, the Group donated RMB10 million to China Foundation for Youth Entrepreneurship and 

Employment as a seeding fund to promote entrepreneurship of youngsters. Mr. Liang Xinjun, Vice Chairman 

and Chief Executive Offi cer of the Company, was elected as a member of the fi rst council.

In December 2009, Forte promoted the development of sport dance in China by sponsoring the National Sport 

Dance Team of China. The Group has been supporting the development of traditional marshal arts. In 2009, 

the Group made two donations of RMB0.3 million in aggregate to Chen Xiaowang Taiji Centre.

Serving the community
Establishment of Fosun Education Fund of Visual Art of 

Fudan University
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

1. Incorporation of social responsibility standard into investment philosophy and 
investment behaviour

The Group has laid consistent emphasis on promoting service through investment and management 

so as to create better life for the community. Social responsibility standard is considered in investment 

philosophy and investment behaviour of the Group. In 2009, the Group further enhanced its investment in 

health care business, medical care services and consumer goods companies.

In 2009, the Group established a business development department to further study the emerging 

service business with low energy consumption. In addition, the Group also focused on the research in 

outstanding e-business operators and service industry with low energy consumption or in energy-saving 

projects.

The Group has strict environmental protection requirements and management for its mining investment 

projects and will not make investment in projects that do not meet the specifi c environmental protection 

requirements.

2. Operation of invested companies: green technology revolution of iron and 
steel and mining businesses

The Group has been committed to implementing energy-saving and emission-reduction practices. Iron and 

steel business is a high energy consuming business that the Group has invested in. With its great attention 

to the new technology in energy utilisation adopted over the international market, the technicians of iron 

and steel division of the Group have made overseas site visits for learning advanced technology in order to 

reduce energy consumption.

In order to save energy and adjust its product mix, Nanjing Steel United has closed the obsolete hot 

rolled sheet production line and three-high lauthing mill for medium plate. The Group has invested 

RMB1 billion in aggregate for the purpose of environmental protection over the last three years. The 

coke dry quenching project not only improved the quality of coke, but also reduced energy consumption 

of standard coking coal per tonne of coke by 53.2kg and emission of hazardous gases by 60% and 

recovered 80% sensible heat for generation of steam used for electricity generation as well,  which 

contributed to the profi t of over RMB30 million per year. The dual pre-heat saving technology introduced 

by Nanjing Steel United has generated the revenue of approximately RMB10 million per year. The 

technology effectively reduces energy consumption through preventing overheat and keeping the 

temperature in production process.

Nanjing Steel United has invested RMB520 million in aggregate in water saving technology for the 

transformation of old districts, construction of new projects and sewage treatment in recent years. As a 

result, the water consumption of Nanjing Steel United in production of steel has been reduced from 21 

tonnes/per tonne of steel in 2005 to 13.96 tonnes/per tonne of steel in 2006, 7.95 tonnes/per tonne of 

steel in 2007, 4.5 tonnes/per tonne of steel in 2008 and less than 4 tonnes/per tonne of steel in 2009.
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3. Exploring potential through internal management of the Group to reduce 
daily resources consumption

The Group promotes the concept of energy-saving which shall be implemented in trifl ing matters of every 

staff member by exploring every detail in internal management. The Group has many staff members with 

extensive business geographical coverage with great needs in communication so that the Group promotes 

the use of new technologies such as remote communications to reduce the frequency of travelling and 

energy consumption. Employees are always reminded to treasure resources during morning assemblies.

COMMUNITY BUILDING

The Group and its investing companies 

actively interact with communities through 

various theme activities.

On 30 May 2009, Forte co-hosted a large-

scale clean-up activity named My Beautiful 

Home: West Lake in Hangzhou for the 

World Environment Day on 5 June.

On 24 May 2009, the East Lake Healthy 

Tour Run sponsored by Forte International 

East Lake was held at East Lake, Wuhan. 

Through the activity, Forte intended to extend calm and optimistic life attitude to lead a healthy and green 

lifestyle.

HONOURS AND AWARDS OF THE GROUP IN 2009

The Fosun Group ranked third in 2009 China Overall Ranking of Chinese Private Enterprise of the China 

Corporate Social Responsibility Competition held by Southern Weekly in 2009.

Fosun Group was awarded the China’s Top Employers by CRF of Netherland with 24 other companies, 

including PepsiCo China, Dow Chemical (China) Investment Company Limited and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 

CPA Ltd., out of 349 nominees.

Fosun Group ranked eighth in 2009 Corporate Social Responsibility Ranking Top 100 in China organised by 

China Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) Research Centre and was honoured with Premium Award of China 

Corporate Social Responsibility.

Community healthcare programme
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had approximately 28,000 employees.

Human resources management of the Group has been implemented and enhanced by following the principles 

of “attracting and retaining talent by company growth and career development, nurturing and 
assessing staff through work and performance”. The Group attaches great importance to human resources 

management and associates the personal development of our employees with our corporate development, 

which in turn aligns our corporate enhancement with the upgrading of employee’s personal value.

The Group provides career development platforms and equal employment opportunities for staff. In 2009, the 

Group recruited and promoted a group of high quality business talents which ensured the rapid development 

of the Group’s business in the aspect of talent resources. The Company has formulated a comprehensive 

performance-based assessment and remuneration management policy, system and procedure according to the 

Group’s development strategy, and provides competitive remuneration packages through market investigation 

and alignment. Performance assessment is improved by the assessment system aligned with the strategic goals. 

The Group has improved its training system by introducing customised management trainee programmes and 

internship programmes for managers among group members to help staff enhance their value. The Group also 

participated in government education programmes by providing internship training opportunities for students 

of Shanghai and Hong Kong, rangers of the Xinjiang Production and Construction Corps, and teachers of the 

Shanghai Career Guidance Centre. Besides, the Group has been studying a long-term incentive mechanism 

for senior management which aligns the Company’s long-term revenue with their benefi ts with an aim to 

encourage sustainable development of the senior management and encourage their contributions to the long-

term development of the Company, which in turn establish a solid foundation for the continuous, stable and 

rapid development of the Group.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In 2010, the Group will focus on the expansion to global markets which require the Group’s further alignment 

with famous international companies in corporate social responsibilities and continuously strengthening its 

management and committing to more social responsibility.

In respect of the corporate social responsibility work in the coming year, the Group aims to align with the 

leading international enterprises through its organisation improvement and method innovation by establishing a 

cross-department sustainable development committee directly reporting to the President of the Company.
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18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre

8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

To the shareholders of Fosun International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the fi nancial statements of Fosun International Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 

(hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 196, which comprise the 

consolidated and company statements of fi nancial position as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated 

income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 

changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash fl ows for the year then ended, and a summary of 

signifi cant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the fi nancial statements

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the true and fair presentation of these 

fi nancial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes 

designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair 

presentation of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. Our report is made 

solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no 

other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents 

of this report.
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certifi ed Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 

plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the fi nancial statements are free from 

material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment 

of the risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and true 

and fair presentation of the fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and 

of the Group as at 31 December 2009 and of the Group’s profi t and cash fl ows for the year then ended in 

accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance 

with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst and Young
Certifi ed Public Accountants

Hong Kong

24 March 2010
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2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

REVENUE 6 34,855,818 40,250,293

Cost of sales (29,161,430) (32,221,179)

Gross profi t 5,694,388 8,029,114

Other income and gains 6 6,492,385 1,673,586

Selling and distribution costs (1,175,543) (1,170,007)

Administrative expenses (1,751,807) (1,659,109)

Other expenses (951,951) (1,792,158)

Finance costs 7 (1,108,335) (1,362,623)

Share of profi ts and losses of:

 Jointly-controlled entities 21 13,825 (6,307)

 Associates 962,563 154,456

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8 8,175,525 3,866,952

Tax 10 (1,357,154) (1,149,068)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,818,371 2,717,884

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent 4,646,679 1,328,391

 Minority interests 2,171,692 1,389,493

6,818,371 2,717,884

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 

 EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

  — Basic and diluted (RMB) 12 0.72 0.21

Details of the dividends payable and proposed for the year are disclosed in note 11 to the fi nancial statements.
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2009 2008

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 6,818,371 2,717,884

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Available-for-sale assets:

 Changes in fair value 705,720 (342,195)

 Reclassifi cation adjustments for gains 

  included in the consolidated income statement

   — gain on disposal (52,910) (174,256)

   — impairment losses — 238,164

Income tax effect 28 (120,851) 46,047

531,959 (232,240)

Share of other comprehensive income of a jointly-controlled entity 2,515 —

Share of other comprehensive income of associates 180,255 (14,331)

Reserves released upon disposal of associates (528) (58,175)

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (149,702) (81,870)

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR, 

 NET OF TAX 564,499 (386,616)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 7,382,870 2,331,268

Attributable to:

 Owners of the parent 5,065,043 1,136,497

 Minority interests 2,317,827 1,194,771

7,382,870 2,331,268
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 13 17,767,235 16,378,577
Investment properties 14 2,057,400 429,000
Prepaid land lease payments 15 1,162,655 893,404
Exploration and evaluation assets 16 420,689 386,645
Mining rights 17 733,586 1,110,721
Intangible assets 18 34,486 28,826
Goodwill 19 126,929 90,591
Interests in jointly-controlled entities 21 755,823 632,481
Investments in associates 22 9,621,368 5,947,063
Held-to-maturity investments 23 79,220 63,761
Available-for-sale investments 24 2,943,458 1,905,289
Properties under development 25 5,089,455 6,666,100
Due from related companies 35 191,905 —
Loan receivable 26 220,000 220,000
Prepayments 27 616,313 1,156,383
Deferred tax assets 28 793,985 663,330

Total non-current assets 42,614,507 36,572,171

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 30 15,947,571 11,691,015
Equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss 31 4,922,253 1,534,899
Trade and notes receivables 32 4,768,991 2,441,440
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 33 3,293,096 2,793,980
Inventories 34 5,583,671 6,203,675
Completed properties for sale 1,698,292 987,604
Properties under development 25 6,868,166 6,121,600
Due from related companies 35 908,592 830,953

43,990,632 32,605,166

Assets of a disposal group/Non-current assets classifi ed 
 as held for sale 29 1,548,894 594,430

Total current assets 45,539,526 33,199,596
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 36 16,792,363 15,228,528
Trade and notes payables 37 6,861,967 5,180,426
Accrued liabilities and other payables 38 10,531,066 5,931,574
Tax payable 1,468,607 1,385,710
Due to the holding company 35 878,749 568,819
Due to related companies 35 345,423 864,135

36,878,175 29,159,192
Liabilities directly associated with the assets 
 classifi ed as held for sale 29 997,393 —

Total current liabilities 37,875,568 29,159,192

NET CURRENT ASSETS 7,663,958 4,040,404

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 50,278,465 40,612,575

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 36 11,913,006 9,169,761
Loans from related companies 39 106,618 152,193
Deferred income 40 82,669 47,702
Other long term payables 41 561,921 634,251
Deferred tax liabilities 28 1,241,973 565,581

Total non-current liabilities 13,906,187 10,569,488

Net assets 36,372,278 30,043,087

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued capital 42 621,497 621,497
Reserves 43 22,935,553 18,795,730
Proposed fi nal dividends 11 927,270 453,051

24,484,320 19,870,278
Minority interests 11,887,958 10,172,809

Total equity 36,372,278 30,043,087

Guo Guangchang Ding Guoqi
Director Director
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2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Offi ce equipment 13 22 54

Interests in subsidiaries 20 1,920,386 1,920,668

Investment in an associate 22 82,421 82,421

Held-to-maturity investments 23 35,320 31,696

Total non-current assets 2,038,149 2,034,839

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and bank balances 30 2,458,576 1,181,140

Equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss 31 4,106,493 1,534,709

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 33 1,567 1,547

Due from subsidiaries 35 8,334,529 8,495,874

Total current assets 14,901,165 11,213,270

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank loans 36 411,848 796,020

Accrued liabilities and other payables 38 1,489 1,114

Tax payable 1,282 —

Due to the holding company 35 878,749 568,819

Total current liabilities 1,293,368 1,365,953

NET CURRENT ASSETS 13,607,797 9,847,317

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 15,645,946 11,882,156

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Interest-bearing bank loans 36 70,438 141,102

Net assets 15,575,508 11,741,054
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2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

EQUITY

Issued capital 42 621,497 621,497

Reserves 43 14,026,741 10,666,506

Proposed fi nal dividends 11 927,270 453,051

Total equity 15,575,508 11,741,054

Guo Guangchang Ding Guoqi
Director Director
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Group

Attributable to owners of the parent

Issued 

capital

Share 

premium

Other 

defi cits

Statutory 

surplus 

reserve

Available-

for-sale 

investments 

revaluation 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Exchange 

fl uctuation 

reserve

Proposed 

fi nal 

dividend Total

Minority 

interests

Total 

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 42) (note 43(a)) (note 43(b)) (note 11)

At 1 January 2008 622,962 11,785,713 (443,540) 1,795,724 254,244 — 4,927,399 (130,606) 1,022,219 19,834,115 10,136,510 29,970,625

Total comprehensive 

 income for the year — — — — (106,969) — 1,328,391 (84,925) — 1,136,497 1,194,771 2,331,268

Acquisition of 

 subsidiaries (note 44(a)) — — — — — — — — — — 254,747 254,747

Capital contribution from 

 minority shareholders

 of subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — — 93,640 93,640

Dividends paid to 

 minority shareholders — — — — — — — — — — (910,353) (910,353)

Repurchase and 

 cancellation of 

 shares (note 42) (1,465) — — — — — (76,650) — — (78,115) — (78,115)

Transfer on shares 

 repurchased and 

 cancelled (note 42) — — — — — 1,465 (1,465) — — — — —

Final 2007 

 dividend declared — — — — — — — — (1,022,219) (1,022,219) — (1,022,219)

Proposed fi nal 

 2008 dividend — — — — — — (453,051) — 453,051 — — —

Transfer from 

 retained profi ts — — — 229,726 — — (229,726) — — — — —

Disposal of subsidiaries 

 (note 44(b)) — — — — — — — — — — (30,867) (30,867)

Disposal of partial 

 interests in subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — — 75,663 75,663

Acquisition of additional 

 of interests

 in subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — — (656,926) (656,926)

Compensation arising 

 from LAT provision — — — — — — — — — — 15,624 15,624

At 31 December 2008 621,497 11,785,713 (443,540) 2,025,450 147,275 1,465 5,494,898 (215,531) 453,051 19,870,278 10,172,809 30,043,087
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Attributable to owners of the parent

Issued 

capital

Share 

premium

Other 

defi cits

Statutory 

surplus 

reserve

Available-

for-sale 

investments 

revaluation 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Retained 

earnings

Exchange 

fl uctuation 

reserve

Proposed 

fi nal 

dividend Total

Minority 

interests

Total 

equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 42) (note 43(a)) (note 43(b)) (note 11)

At 1 January 2009 621,497 11,785,713 (443,540) 2,025,450 147,275 1,465 5,494,898 (215,531) 453,051 19,870,278 10,172,809 30,043,087

Total comprehensive 

 income for the year — — — — 566,841 — 4,646,679 (148,477) — 5,065,043 2,317,827 7,382,870

Acquisition of 

 subsidiaries (note 44(a)) — — — — — — — — — — 4,550 4,550

Capital contribution from 

 minority shareholders 

 of subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — — 166,281 166,281

Dividends paid to 

 minority shareholders — — — — — — — — — — (607,356) (607,356)

Final 2008 

 dividend declared — — — — — — — — (453,051) (453,051) — (453,051)

Proposed fi nal dividends — — — — — — (927,270) — 927,270 — — —

Transfer from 

 retained profi ts — — — 198,439 — — (198,439) — — — — —

Liquidation of a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — — (18,795) (18,795)

Disposal of partial 

 interests in a subsidiary — — — — — — — — — — 23,511 23,511

Acquisition of additional 

 interests in subsidiaries — — — — — — — — — — (182,742) (182,742)

Equity-settled 

 share-based payment — 2,050 — — — — — — — 2,050 1,832 3,882

Compensation arising 

 from LAT provision — — — — — — — — — — 10,041 10,041

At 31 December 2009 621,497 11,787,763 (443,540) 2,223,889 714,116 1,465 9,015,868 (364,008) 927,270 24,484,320 11,887,958 36,372,278
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profi t before tax 8,175,525 3,866,952
Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 8 1,806,875 1,554,480
 Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments 15 20,947 18,962
 Amortisation of intangible assets 18 9,826 25,917
 Amortisation of mining rights 17 110,573 72,011
 Provision for impairment of items of property, plant and equipment 13 1,043 133,391
 Provision for impairment of available-for-sale investments 8 167,143 238,164
 Provision for impairment of goodwill 8 3,179 6,965
 Provision for impairment of intangible assets 18 1,094 —
 Provision for impairment of mining rights 17 266,562 —
 Net loss/(gain) on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 6,8 5,283 (1,657)
 Net gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 6,8 (133,643) (158,829)
 Gain on disposal of equity investments at 
  fair value through profi t or loss 6 (42,379) (14,450)
 Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries 44(b) (494) (4,710)
 Gain on disposal of associates 6 (640,145) (172,541)
 Net gain on disposal of non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale 6,8 (16,985) —
 Gain on disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries 6 — (246,183)
 Gain on deemed acquisition of interests in a subsidiary 6 (26,446) —
 Gain on disposal of partial interest in associates 6 (27,096) (4,347)
 Loss on disposal of investment property 8 790 —
 Net gain on deemed disposal of interests in associates 6,8 (2,605,609) (3,420)
 Equity-settled share-based payment expense 8 16,426 —
 (Reversal)/provision for impairment of receivables 8 (539) 16,125
 Provision for inventories 8 54,693 675,544
 (Reversal)/provision for properties under development 8 (19,168) 80,456
 Write-off of inventories 8 — 1,754
 Interest expenses 1,081,131 1,348,863
 Fair value adjustment on equity investments at 
  fair value through profi t or loss 6,8 (2,015,010) 9,300
 Gain on acquisition of interests in subsidiaries 6 (4,057) —
 Dividends from equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss 6 (1,414) (2,173)
 Fair value (gains)/losses on investment properties 14 (85,195) 27,000
 Interest income 6 (159,312) (252,179)
 Dividends from available-for-sale investments 6 (109,835) (66,763)
 Share of profi ts and losses of associates (962,563) (154,456)

Subtotal carried forward 4,871,200 6,994,176
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Subtotal brought forward 4,871,200 6,994,176
Share of profi ts and losses of jointly-controlled entities (13,825) 6,307
Excess over the cost of business combinations realised as income 44(a) — (6,520)
Provision for indemnity of LAT 8 10,041 15,624

CASH INFLOW BEFORE WORKING CAPITAL CHANGES 4,867,416 7,009,587

Decrease/(increase) in properties under development 715,910 (3,017,978)
Increase in properties held for sale (2,186,350) (241,066)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and notes receivables (2,331,358) 415,393
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (1,288,374) 1,219,417
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 572,750 (464,406)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due from related companies 144,361 (211,247)
Increase in trade and notes payables 1,960,632 754,368
Increase/(decrease) in accrued liabilities and other payables 3,532,274 (2,029,218)
Increase in deferred income 34,967 25,967
Decrease in other long term payables (72,330) (103,221)
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to related companies (117,552) 48,671

CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATIONS 5,832,346 3,406,267

Interest paid (449,190) (271,762)
Income tax paid 72,616 (1,839,360)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,455,772 1,295,145
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment (2,879,913) (2,298,273)
Increase of prepaid land lease payments (292,044) (4,205)
Purchase of intangible assets (27,531) (26,146)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments (13,656) (62,731)
Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets (34,044) (281,645)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments (705,256) (229,182)
Purchase of equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss (1,826,841) (1,487,990)
Purchase of minority interests (191,756) (638,033)
Proceeds from disposal of equity investments at 
 fair value through profi t or loss 495,820 44,046
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale investments 297,446 418,379
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 428,210 —
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 87,485 122,399
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid land lease payments — 2,883

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets 10,951 3,684

Proceeds from disposal of held-to-maturity investment 280 —
Proceeds from disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries — 553,846
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 44(b) 2,841 18,963
Proceeds from disposal of associates 1,040,045 374,841
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale 407,394 —
Proceeds from disposal of jointly-controlled entities — 52,000
Acquisition of subsidiaries 44(a) (628,873) (457,887)
Acquisition of associates (719,872) (573,187)
Acquisition of jointly-controlled entities (110,515) (5,000)
Liquidation of a subsidiary (18,795) —
Dividends received from available-for-sale investments 6 109,835 66,763
Dividends received from equity investments at 
 fair value through profi t or loss 6 1,414 2,173
Dividends received from associates 498,425 596,185
Shareholder loans provided to related companies — (252,733)
(Increase)/decrease in pledged bank balances and 
 time deposits with original maturity of more than three months (2,284,011) 2,006,566
Payments for acquisition of a subsidiary (143,500) —
Interest received 6 159,312 252,179
Prepayments for purchase of exploration and 
 evaluation assets and acquisitions — (40,435)
Return of prepayment in respect of a proposed acquisition 44,880 311,330

NET CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (6,292,269) (1,531,210)
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2009 2008
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repurchase and cancellation of shares — (78,115)

Capital contribution from minority shareholders of subsidiaries 166,281 93,640

New bank and other borrowings 30,678,521 24,659,845

Repayments of bank and other borrowings (25,960,614) (21,999,898)

Dividends paid to minority shareholders (811,356) (910,353)

Dividends paid (143,121) (453,400)

Interest paid (1,075,851) (1,522,077)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,853,860 (210,358)

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND 

 CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,017,363 (446,423)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 9,577,695 10,024,118

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 11,595,058 9,577,695

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED 

 IN THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 11,550,240 9,577,695

Cash and pledged deposits attributable to assets

 of a disposal group classifi ed as held for sale 29 44,818 —

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS STATED 

 IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 11,595,058 9,577,695
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

Fosun International Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as a company with limited liability in Hong 

Kong on 24 December 2004 under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 32).

The registered offi ce of the Company is located at Room 808, ICBC Tower, 3 Garden Road, Central, Hong 

Kong.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are 

the manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical products, property development, the manufacture and sale 

of iron and steel products, mining and ore processing of various metals, and the management of strategic 

investments.

The holding company and the ultimate holding company of the Company are Fosun Holdings Limited 

and Fosun International Holdings Ltd. which are incorporated in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands, 

respectively.

The shares of the Company have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 

Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) since 16 July 2007.

2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

These fi nancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting 

Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong 

Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certifi ed 

Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical 

cost convention, except for investment properties, derivative fi nancial instruments and equity investments, 

which have been measured at fair value. Disposal groups and non-current assets held for sale are stated 

at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. 

These fi nancial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest 

thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of the Group for the year ended 

31 December 2009. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the 

date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control 

ceases. All income, expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intercompany transactions 

and intercompany balances within the Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

The acquisition of subsidiaries during the year has been accounted for using the purchase method of 

accounting. This method involves allocating the cost of the business combinations to the fair value of the 

identifi able assets acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition. 

The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of the assets given, equity 

instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly 

attributable to the acquisition. Contingent consideration is recognised if the adjustment is probable and 

can be measured reliably. Subsequent measurement to the contingent consideration affects goodwill.

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders not held by the Group in the results and 

net assets of the Company’s subsidiaries. Acquisitions of minority interests are accounted for using the 

parent entity extension method whereby the difference between the consideration and the book value of 

the share of the net assets acquired is recognised as goodwill.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the fi rst time for the current year’s 

fi nancial statements.

HKFRS 1 and HKAS 27 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of HKFRSs and

 HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements — Cost

 of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly — Controlled Entity or Associate

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment — Vesting Conditions

 and Cancellations

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

 Disclosures — Improving Disclosure about Financial Instruments

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 18 Amendment* Amendment to Appendix to HKAS 18 Revenue — Determining whether

 an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent

HKAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing Costs
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

HKAS 32 and HKAS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:

 Presentation and HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

 — Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

HK (IFRIC)-Int 9 and

 HKAS 39 Amendments

Amendments to HK (IFRIC)-Int 9 Reassessment of

 Embedded Derivatives and HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:

 Recognition and Measurement — Embedded Derivatives

HK (IFRIC)-Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

HK (IFRIC)-Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

HK (IFRIC)-Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

HK (IFRIC)-Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers (adopted from 1 July 2009)

Improvements to HKFRSs

 (October 2008)

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs

* Included in Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 (as issued in May 2009).

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised HKFRSs are as follows:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — Improving 
Disclosures about Financial Instruments
The HKFRS 7 Amendments require additional disclosures about fair value measurement and liquidity 

risk. Fair value measurements related to items recorded at fair value are to be disclosed by sources 

of inputs using a three-level fair value hierarchy, by class, for all fi nancial instruments recognised at 

fair value. In addition, a reconciliation between the beginning and ending balance is now required 

for Level 3 fair value measurements, as well as signifi cant transfers between levels in the fair value 

hierarchy. The amendments also clarify the requirements for liquidity risk disclosures with respect 

to derivative transactions and assets used for liquidity management. The fair value measurement 

disclosures are presented in note 51 to the fi nancial statements.

(b) HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
HKFRS 8, which replaces HKAS 14 Segment Reporting, specifi es how an entity should report 

information about its operating segments, based on information about the components of the entity 

that is available to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of allocating resources to the 

segments and assessing their performance. The standard also requires the disclosure of information 

about the products and services provided by the segments, the geographical areas in which the 

Group operates, and revenue from the Group’s major customers. The Group concluded that the 

operating segments determined in accordance with HKFRS 8 are the same as the business segments 

previously identifi ed under HKAS 14. These revised disclosures, including the related revised 

comparative information, are shown in note 5 to the fi nancial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(c) HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements
HKAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes in the presentation and disclosures of fi nancial statements. 

The revised standard separates owner and non-owner changes in equity. The statement of changes 

in equity includes only details of transactions with owners, with all non-owner changes in equity 

presented as a single line. In addition, this standard introduces the statement of comprehensive 

income, with all items of income and expense recognised in profi t or loss, together with all other 

items of recognised income and expense recognised directly in equity, either in one single statement, 

or in two linked statements. The Group has elected to present two statements.

(d) In October 2008, the HKICPA issued its fi rst Improvements to HKFRSs which sets out amendments 

to a number of HKFRSs. Except for the amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale 

and Discontinued Operations — Plan to Sell the Controlling Interest in a Subsidiary which is effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009, the Group adopted all the amendments from 

1 January 2009. While the adoption of some of the amendments results in changes in accounting 

policies, none of these amendments has had a signifi cant fi nancial impact to the Group. Details of 

the a key amendment most applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKAS 40 Investment Property: Revises the scope such that property being constructed or developed 

for future as an investment property is classifi ed as an investment property. The Group has applied 

the amendment prospectively from 1 January 2009. The Group’s accounting policy for investment 

properties is to subsequently state them at fair value with changes in fair values recognised in 

profi t or loss. As a result of the amendment, an investment property under construction is carried 

at fair value at the earlier of when the fair value fi rst becomes reliably determinable and when the 

construction of the property is completed.

Other than as further explained above regarding the impact of HKFRS 7 Amendments, HKFRS 8, HKAS 

1 (Revised) and Improvements to HKFRSs, the adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs has had no 

signifi cant fi nancial effect on the Group’s fi nancial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet 

effective, in these fi nancial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Revised) First-time Adoption of HKFRSs1

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of

 HKFRSs-Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters2

HKFRS 2 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment

 — Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions2

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations1

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments6

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures5

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements1

HKAS 32 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial Instruments:

 Presentation — Classifi cation of Rights Issues3

HKAS 39 Amendment Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:

 Recognition and Measurement — Eligible Hedged Items1

HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments Amendments to HK (IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments of a

 Minimum Funding Requirement5

HK (IFRIC)-Int 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners1

HK (IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments4

Amendments to HKFRS 5

 included in Improvements to

 HKFRSs issued in October 2008

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale

 and Discontinued Operations — Plan to Sell the Controlling Interest

 in a Subsidiary1

HK Interpretation 4

 (Revised in December 2009)

Leases — Determination of the Length of Lease Term

 in respect of Hong Kong Leases2

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued Improvements to HKFRSs 2009 which sets out amendments 

to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording. The 

amendments to HKFRS 2, HKAS 38, HK (IFRIC)-Int 9 and HK (IFRIC)-Int 16 are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 July 2009 while the amendments to HKFRS 5, HKFRS 8, HKAS 1, HKAS 7, HKAS 

17, HKAS 36 and HKAS 39 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010 although 

there are separate transitional provisions for each standard or interpretation.

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSS (continued)

Further information about those changes that are expected to signifi cantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 3 (Revised) introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations that will 

impact the amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, 

and future reported results.

HKAS 27 (Revised) requires that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary without loss of control 

is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such a change will have no impact on goodwill, nor 

will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the revised standard changes the accounting for losses 

incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments 

were made to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 12 Income Taxes, HKAS 21 The Effects of Changes 

in Foreign Exchange Rates, HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures.

The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 3 (Revised) and HKAS 27 (Revised) from 1 January 2010. The changes 

introduced by these revised standards must be applied prospectively and will affect the accounting of 

future acquisitions, loss of control and transactions with minority interests.

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the fi rst part of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely 

replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on the 

classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial assets. Instead of classifying fi nancial assets into four 

categories, an entity shall classify fi nancial assets as subsequently measured at either amortised cost 

or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’s business model for managing the fi nancial assets and 

the contractual cash fl ow characteristics of the fi nancial assets. This aims to improve and simplify the 

approach for the classifi cation and measurement of fi nancial assets compared with the requirements of 

HKAS 39.

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety by the end of 2010. The Group expects to 

adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2013.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that all assets and liabilities of a subsidiary shall be classifi ed as held 

for sale if an entity has a sale plan involving loss of control of the subsidiary, regardless of whether the 

entity will retain a non-controlling interest. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January 

2010. The changes must be applied prospectively and will affect future sale transactions or plans involving 

loss of control of a subsidiary.

Except as stated above, the Group expects that the adoption of the above new and revised HKFRSs is 

unlikely to have a signifi cant impact on the Group’s results of operations and fi nancial position.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity in which the Company, directly or indirectly, controls more than half of its voting 

power or issued share capital or controls the composition of its board of directors; or over which the 

Company has a contractual right to exercise a dominant infl uence with respect to that entity’s fi nancial 

and operating policies.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends 

received and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries that are not classifi ed as held for sale in 

accordance with HKFRS 5 are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Jointly-controlled entities

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint control, resulting in none of the 

participating parties having unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are stated in the consolidated statement of fi nancial 

position at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment 

losses. The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of jointly-controlled entities is 

included in the consolidated income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where the profi t 

sharing ratio is different to the Group’s equity interest, the share of post-acquisition results of the jointly-

controlled entities is determined based on the agreed profi t sharing ratio. Unrealised gains and losses 

resulting from transactions between the Group and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the 

extent of the Group’s interests in the jointly-controlled entities, except where unrealised losses provide 

evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The results of jointly-controlled entities are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent 

of dividends received and receivable. The Company’s interests in jointly-controlled entities are treated as 

non-current assets and are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-controlled entity, in which the Group has a 

long term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over which it is in a 

position to exercise signifi cant infl uence.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position at the 

Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The 

Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates is included in the consolidated 

income statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from 

transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in 

the associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. 

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group’s interests in associates 

and is not individually tested for impairment.

The results of associates are included in the Company’s income statement to the extent of dividends 

received and receivable. The Company’s interests in associates are treated as non-current assets and are 

stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries and associates represents the excess of the cost of the 

business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifi able assets 

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the date of acquisitions.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position as an 

asset, initially measured at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. In 

the case of associates, goodwill is included in the carrying amount thereof, rather than as a separately 

identifi ed asset in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or 

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its 

annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill 

acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-

generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefi t from the synergies of 

the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units 

or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group 

of cash-generating units), to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-

generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is 

recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the 

operation within the unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is 

included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the 

operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the 

operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Excess over the cost of business combinations

Any excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquirees’ identifi able assets, liabilities 

and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled 

entities (previously referred to as negative goodwill), after reassessment, is recognised immediately in the 

consolidated income statement.

The excess for associates and jointly-controlled entities is included in the Group’s share of the associates’ 

and jointly-controlled entities’ profi ts or losses in the period in which the investments are acquired.

Impairment of non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill

When an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required 

(other than inventories, properties under development, completed properties held for sale, fi nancial assets, 

deferred tax assets, investment properties, goodwill and non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale), 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or 

cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual 

asset, unless the asset does not generate cash infl ows that are largely independent of those from other 

assets or group of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are discounted to their present value using a 

pre-tax discount rate that refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 

specifi c to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the consolidated income statement in the period 

in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 

accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-fi nancial assets other than goodwill (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is any indication that 

previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication 

exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other 

than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have 

been determined (net of depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 

in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the consolidated income statement in 

the period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of 

the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued 

asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or 

is under common control with, the Group; (ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it signifi cant 

infl uence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any individual referred to in (a) or (d);

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-controlled or signifi cantly infl uenced by or for which 

signifi cant voting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in 

(d) or (e); or

(g) the party is a post-employment benefi t plan for the benefi t of employees of the Group, or of any 

entity that is a related party of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 

depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises 

its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and 

location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have 

been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated income 

statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfi ed, 

the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. 

Where signifi cant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the 

Group recognised such parts as individual assets with specifi c useful lives and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant 

and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of property, 

plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings 15 to 40 years

Plant and machinery 8 to 15 years

Offi ce equipment 5 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

Mining infrastructure 18 years

Leasehold improvements The shorter of the lease terms or their useful lives

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item 

is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 

least at each fi nancial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any signifi cant part initially recognised is derecognised 

upon disposal or when no future economic benefi ts are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or 

loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the consolidated income statement in the year the asset is 

derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant 

asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plant and machinery under construction or installation 

and testing which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises 

the direct costs of construction or installation and testing and capitalised borrowing costs on related 

borrowed funds during the period of construction or installation and testing. Construction in progress is 

reclassifi ed to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment or investment properties when 

completed and ready for use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held to earn rental income and/or for capital 

appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 

purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, 

including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair 

value, which refl ects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in the 

consolidated income statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the 

consolidated income statement in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from inventories to investment properties, any difference between the fair value of 

the property at that date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated income 

statement. When the Group completes the construction or development of a self-constructed investment 

property, any difference between the fair value of the property at the completion date and its previous 

carrying amount is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classifi ed as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be 

recovered principally through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this to be the 

case, the asset or disposal group must be available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only 

to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or disposal groups and its sale must be 

highly probable.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment properties, deferred tax assets and 

fi nancial assets) classifi ed as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair 

values less costs to sell. Property, equipment and intangible assets classifi ed as held for sale are not 

depreciated or amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible 

assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition. The useful lives 

of intangible assets are assessed to be fi nite. Intangible assets with fi nite lives are subsequently amortised 

over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the 

intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible 

asset with a fi nite useful life are reviewed at least at each fi nancial year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Patents and licences and technical know-how
Purchased patents and licences and technical know-how are stated at cost less any impairment losses 

and are amortised on the straight-line basis over the respective estimated useful lives of not exceeding 10 

years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to the consolidated income statement as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the 

Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 

available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will 

generate future economic benefi ts, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to 

measure reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does 

not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Exploration and evaluation assets

Exploration and evaluation assets are stated at cost less impairment losses. Exploration and evaluation 

assets include topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling, sampling and trenching and 

activities in relation to commercial and technical feasibility studies, and expenditure incurred to secure 

further mineralisation in existing ore bodies and to expand the capacity of a mine. Expenditure incurred 

prior to accruing legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred. When it can be reasonably 

ascertained that a mining property is capable of commercial production, exploration and evaluation costs 

are transferred to mining rights and are amortised on the units of production (“UOP”) method based on 

the proven and probable mineral reserves. If any project is abandoned during the evaluation stage, the 

total expenditure thereon will be written off.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. Mining 

rights include the cost of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation costs transferred from 

exploration rights and assets upon determination that an exploration property is capable of commercial 

production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the mining reserves of existing mining properties. 

The mining rights are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in accordance with the 

production plans of the entities concerned and the proven and probable reserves of the mines using the 

UOP method. Mining rights are written off to the consolidated income statement if the mining property is 

abandoned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses. 

Prepaid land lease payments are amortised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other 

than legal title, are accounted for as fi nance leases. At the inception of fi nance lease, the cost of the 

leased asset is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together 

with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to refl ect the purchase and fi nancing. Assets held 

under capitalised fi nance leases are included in property, plant and equipment and depreciated over the 

shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The fi nance costs of such leases are 

charged to the consolidated income statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the 

lease terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor are 

accounted for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group under 

operating leases are included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are 

credited to the consolidated income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the 

Group is the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases, net of any incentives received from the 

lessor are charged to the consolidated income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other fi nancial assets

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classifi ed as fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t 

or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale fi nancial assets as 

appropriate. The Group determines the classifi cation of its fi nancial assets at initial recognition. When 

fi nancial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments 

not at fair value through profi t or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of fi nancial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date 

that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or 

sales of fi nancial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation 

or convention in the marketplace.

The Group’s fi nancial assets include cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables, loans receivable, 

quoted and unquoted fi nancial instruments, amounts due from related companies and derivative fi nancial 

instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other fi nancial assets (continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of fi nancial assets depends on their classifi cation as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profi t or loss include fi nancial assets held for trading and fi nancial 

assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profi t or loss. Financial assets are 

classifi ed as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. This category 

includes derivative fi nancial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging 

instruments in hedge relationships as defi ned by HKAS 39. Financial assets at fair value through profi t or 

loss are carried in the statement of fi nancial position at fair value with changes in fair value recognised 

in the other income and gains or other expenses in the consolidated income statement. These net fair 

value changes recognised do not include any dividends on these fi nancial assets, which are recognised in 

accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

The Group evaluates its fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss (held for trading) to assess 

whether the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade 

these fi nancial assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell them in the foreseeable 

future signifi cantly changes, the Group may elect to reclassify these fi nancial assets in rare circumstances. 

The reclassifi cation from fi nancial assets at fair value through profi t or loss to loans and receivables, 

available-for-sale fi nancial assets or held-to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the assets.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments that are 

not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost 

is calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs that 

are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the 

fi nancial costs in the consolidated income statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in the 

consolidated income statement.

Held-to-maturity investments
Non-derivative fi nancial assets with fi xed or determinable payments and fi xed maturity are classifi ed as 

held-to-maturity when the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-

maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost less any allowance for impairment. 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 

included in other expenses in the consolidated income statement. The loss arising from impairment is 

recognised in the consolidated fi nancial statements in fi nance costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other fi nancial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale fi nancial investments
Available-for-sale fi nancial investments are non-derivative fi nancial assets in listed and unlisted equity 

securities. Equity investments classifi ed as available for sale are those which are neither classifi ed as held 

for trading nor designated at fair value through profi t or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale fi nancial investments are subsequently measured at fair value, 

with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the available-for-sale 

investment valuation reserve until the investment is derecognised or until the investment is determined 

to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in other income and gains in the 

consolidated income statement and removed from the available-for-sale investment valuation reserve. 

Interest and dividends earned are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are 

recognised in the consolidated income statement as “Other income and gains” in accordance with the 

policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability in 

the range of reasonable fair value estimates is signifi cant for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the 

various estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such 

securities are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale fi nancial investments whether the ability and intention to sell 

them in the near term are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to trade these fi nancial assets due 

to inactive markets and management’s intent to do so signifi cantly changes in the foreseeable future, 

the Group may elect to reclassify these fi nancial assets in rare circumstances. Reclassifi cation to loans 

and receivables is permitted when the fi nancial assets meet the defi nition of loans and receivables and 

the Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity. The 

reclassifi cation to the held-to-maturity category is permitted only when the entity has the ability and 

intent to hold until the maturity date of the fi nancial asset.

For a fi nancial asset reclassifi ed out of the available-for-sale category, any previous gain or loss on that 

asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profi t or loss over the remaining life of the 

investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the 

expected cash fl ows is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. 

If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassifi ed 

to the consolidated income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of fi nancial assets

A fi nancial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a fi nancial asset or part of a group of similar fi nancial 

assets) is derecognised when:

• the rights to receive cash fl ows from the asset have expired;

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash fl ows from the asset or has assumed an 

obligation to pay the received cash fl ows in full without material delay to a third party under a 

“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks 

and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash fl ows from an asset or has entered into a “pass-

through” arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group’s 

continuing involvement in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. 

The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that refl ects the rights and 

obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the 

lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the 

Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of fi nancial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 

fi nancial asset or group of fi nancial assets is impaired. A fi nancial asset or a group of fi nancial assets is 

deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more 

events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss 

event has an impact on the estimated future cash fl ows of the fi nancial asset or the group of fi nancial 

assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a debtor or 

a group of debtors is experiencing signifi cant fi nancial diffi culty, default or delinquency in interest or 

principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other fi nancial reorganisation and 

observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash fl ows, such as 

changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of fi nancial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
For fi nancial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group fi rst assesses individually whether objective 

evidence of impairment exists for fi nancial assets that are individually signifi cant, or collectively for 

fi nancial assets that are not individually signifi cant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for an individually assessed fi nancial asset, whether signifi cant or not, it includes the 

asset in a group of fi nancial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for 

impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or 

continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of the loss is 

measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash fl ows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). The present value of the 

estimated future cash fl ows is discounted at the fi nancial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the 

effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). If a loan has variable interest rate, the discount rate 

for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through the use of an allowance account 

and the amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. Interest 

income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest 

used to discount the future cash fl ows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and 

receivables together with any associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of 

future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because 

of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss 

is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the 

recovery is credited to the consolidated income statement.

Assets carried at cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument 

that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, the amount of the loss 

is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash fl ows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar fi nancial asset. Impairment 

losses on these assets are not reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of fi nancial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale fi nancial investments
For available-for-sale fi nancial investments, the Group assesses at the end of each reporting period 

whether there is objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of 

any principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 

recognised in the consolidated income statement, is removed from other comprehensive income and 

recognised in the consolidated income statement.

In the case of equity investments classifi ed as available for sale, objective evidence would include a 

signifi cant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The determination of 

what is “signifi cant” or “prolonged” requires judgement. “Signifi cant” is evaluated against the original 

cost of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its 

original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference 

between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment 

previously recognised in the consolidated income statement — is removed from other comprehensive 

income and recognised in the consolidated income statement. Impairment losses on equity instruments 

classifi ed as available for sale are not reversed through the consolidated income statement. Increases in 

their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classifi ed as fi nancial liabilities at fair value through 

profi t or loss, loans and borrowings as appropriate. The Group determines the classifi cation of its fi nancial 

liabilities at initial recognition.

All fi nancial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus 

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s fi nancial liabilities include trade and notes payables, other payables and accruals, an amount 

due to the holding company, amounts due to related companies, loans from related companies and 

interest-bearing loans and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of fi nancial liabilities depends on their classifi cation as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profi t or loss include fi nancial liabilities held for trading and 

fi nancial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profi t or loss.

Financial liabilities are classifi ed as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling in 

the near term. This category includes derivative fi nancial instruments entered into by the Group that 

are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defi ned by HKAS 39. Separated 

embedded derivatives are also classifi ed as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging 

instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated income 

statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the consolidated income statement does not 

include any interest charged on these fi nancial liabilities.

Loans and other borrowings
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and other borrowings are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, 

in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income 

statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate method 

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees 

or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is 

included in fi nance costs in the consolidated income statement.

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those contracts that require a payment to be made 

to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specifi ed debtor fails to make a payment when due 

in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A fi nancial guarantee contract is recognised initially as 

a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the 

guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the fi nancial guarantee contract at the 

higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 

at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 

cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of fi nancial liabilities

A fi nancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or 

expires.

When an existing fi nancial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different 

terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modifi ed, such an exchange or modifi cation is 

treated as a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference in 

the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Offsetting of fi nancial instruments

Financial assets and fi nancial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement 

of fi nancial position if, and only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 

amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities 

simultaneously.

Fair value of fi nancial instruments

The fair value of fi nancial instruments that are traded in active markets is determined by reference to 

quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short 

positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. For fi nancial instruments where there is no active 

market, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques include using 

recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current market value of another instrument 

which is substantially the same; and a discounted cash fl ow analysis.

Derivative fi nancial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative fi nancial instruments such as forward currency contracts to hedge its foreign 

currency risk. Such derivative fi nancial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on 

which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are 

carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to the consolidated 

income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted 

average basis and, in the case of work-in-progress and fi nished goods, comprises direct materials, direct 

labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.

Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to 

completion and disposal.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at cost which includes all development expenditures, including 

land costs, interest charges and other costs directly attributable to such properties.

Properties under development are classifi ed as current assets unless the construction period of the relevant 

property development project is expected to complete beyond the normal operating cycle.

Properties under development are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value at the balance sheet 

date and any excess of cost over net realisable value of individual item of properties under development is 

accounted for as a provision. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling price in the ordinary course 

of business as determined by management with reference to the prevailing market conditions, less further 

costs expected to be incurred to completion and selling and marketing costs.

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are recognised in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position at the 

lower of cost and the net realisable value. Net realisable value is estimated by the Directors based on 

the prevailing market conditions. Cost is determined by an apportionment of the total costs of land and 

buildings attributable to the unsold properties. Any excess of cost over net realisable value of individual 

item of completed properties for sale is accounted for as a provision.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

on hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into 

known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity 

of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the statement of fi nancial position, cash and bank balances comprise cash on hand and 

at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a 

past event and it is probable that a future outfl ow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, 

provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value 

at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the 

obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is 

included in fi nance costs in the consolidated income statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain products are recognised based on 

sales volume and past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values as 

appropriate.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is initially measured at its fair value. 

Subsequently, it is measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in accordance with 

the general guidance for provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, 

cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profi t or 

loss is recognised outside profi t or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected 

to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking into consideration 

interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the 

reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for fi nancial 

reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• where the deferred tax liabilities arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 

accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in jointly-controlled entities, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax 

credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will be available against 

which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax 

losses can be utilised, except:

• where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time 

of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profi t nor taxable profi t or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and interests in jointly-controlled entities, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that 

it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profi t 

will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 

to the extent that it is no longer probable that suffi cient taxable profi t will be available to allow all or 

part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of 

each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that suffi cient taxable 

profi t will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period 

when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off 

current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and 

the same taxation authority.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant 

will be received and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense 

item, it is recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the 

costs that it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a 

deferred income account and is released to the consolidated income statement over the expected useful 

life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and the 

revenue can be reliably measured. The following specifi c recognition criteria must also be met before 

revenue is recognised:

(a) Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership 

have been transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial 

involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership, nor effective control over the goods 

sold.

(b) Sale of completed properties
Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised when the risks and rewards of the properties 

are transferred to the purchasers, which is when the construction of relevant properties has been 

completed and the properties have been delivered to the purchasers pursuant to the sales agreement 

and collectability of related receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits and instalments received on 

properties sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement 

of fi nancial position under current liabilities.

(c) Service fees
Property agency fees, property sales planning and advertising fees, construction supervisory fees 

and property management fees are recognised when the relevant services have been rendered and 

it is probable that economic benefi ts will fl ow to the Group and the relevant fees can be measured 

reliably.

(d) Rental income
Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.



100
Annual Report 2009

Fosun International Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(e) Interest income
Revenue is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the 

rate that discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the fi nancial 

instrument to the net carrying amount of the fi nancial asset.

(f) Dividend income
Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment has been established.

Share-based payment transactions

Certain senior management personnel are provided with the opportunity to purchase the equity interest 

in a subsidiary of the Company at a discounted price for their contribution to the success of the Group’s 

operation.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at 

the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external valuer using a market 

approach, further details of which are given in note 45 to the fi nancial statements.

Retirement benefi ts

The Group did not provide post employment benefi ts, other than (i) defi ned contribution pension schemes 

and (ii) other employee benefi ts to qualifi ed former employees (“Qualifi ed SOE Employees”) and qualifi ed 

retirees (“Qualifi ed Retirees”) of former State-owned enterprises, as set out below.

(i) Defi ned contribution pension schemes
The full-time employees of the Group, other than Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees 

of former State-owned enterprises (“Former SOEs”) as set out below, are covered by various 

government-regulated defi ned contribution retirement benefi t schemes under which the employees 

are entitled to a monthly pension. The Group contributes a percentage of the employees’ salaries to 

these retirement benefi t schemes on a monthly basis. Under these schemes, the Group has no legal 

obligation for retirement benefi ts beyond the contributions made. Contributions to these schemes 

are expensed as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefi ts (continued)

(ii) Other employee benefi ts to Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees
The Group took over Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees from the Former SOEs upon 

the Group’s acquisition of the Former SOEs. A liability in respect of the retirement benefi ts of 

Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees was taken over by the Group from the former parent 

company of the Former SOEs upon taking up Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees. All the 

following retirement benefi ts are covered by the abovementioned liability taken over and the details 

of the retirement benefi ts are as follows:

Qualifi ed SOE Employees

The Qualifi ed SOE Employees consist of two different categories of employees:

(a) Qualifi ed SOE Employees being made redundant by the Former SOEs before their statutory 

retirement age prior to the Group’s acquisition of the Former SOEs.

The Former SOEs paid basic salary and social benefi t funds on a monthly basis to these 

Qualifi ed SOE Employees until they reach statutory retirement age as stipulated by the State 

Regulations. The Group is required to continue paying such monthly payments to these 

redundant Qualifi ed SOE Employees until they reach statutory retirement age as stipulated by 

the State Regulations; and

(b) Qualifi ed SOE Employees not being made redundant by the Former SOEs before their statutory 

retirement age prior to the Group’s acquisition of the Former SOEs and entering into new 

employment contracts with the Group upon acquisition of the Former SOEs by the Group.

The Former SOEs implemented early retirement plans for these Qualifi ed SOE employees. The 

benefi ts of the early retirement plans of the Qualifi ed SOE Employees were calculated based 

on factors including the number of years of qualifi ed service with the Former SOEs, salary 

amount and other agreed terms for Qualifi ed SOE Employees upon the Group’s acquisition of 

the Former SOEs. The Group is required to pay these Qualifi ed SOE Employees a redundancy 

payment if they opt for early retirement or are made redundant by the Group before their 

statutory retirement age as stipulated by State Regulations. These Qualifi ed SOE Employees are 

not entitled to early retirement benefi ts upon reaching statutory retirement age.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Retirement benefi ts (continued)

(ii) Other employee benefi ts to Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees  
(continued)

Qualifi ed Retirees

The Former SOEs also provided post retirement benefi ts to their employees who were not covered 

by various government-regulated defi ned contribution retirement benefi t schemes under which the 

employees are entitled to a monthly pension. Upon being acquired by the Group, the Former SOEs 

had certain Qualifi ed Retirees to whom the Former SOEs had an obligation to pay a fi xed amount 

on a monthly basis until their death, where the Group is required to continue paying such monthly 

payments to these Qualifi ed Retirees. The post retirement benefi ts of Qualifi ed Retirees were 

calculated based on the monthly pension multiplied by an estimated life expectancy of Qualifi ed 

Retirees.

The Group recognises the liability taken over as a non-current liability at initial recognition, and 

subsequent payments of the retirement benefi ts to Qualifi ed SOE Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees 

are debited against the non-current liability. Payments are made by the Group to Qualifi ed SOE 

Employees and Qualifi ed Retirees, but the use of the fund is monitored and supervised jointly by the 

former parent company of the Former SOEs and the union. Except for the payment of the retirement 

benefi ts of the Qualifi ed SOE Employees and the Qualifi ed Retirees, the fund cannot be used for any 

other purpose including the transfer to the Group’s income statement or reserve, without the joint 

approval from the former parent company of Former SOEs, the union and the Municipal Labour & 

Social Security Bureau.

Accommodation benefi ts

According to the relevant PRC rules and regulations, the PRC companies now comprising the Group 

and their employees are each required to make contributions which are in proportion to the salaries 

and wages of the employees to an accommodation fund administered by the government agencies in 

the PRC. There is no further obligation on the part of the Group except for such contributions to the 

accommodation fund. Contributions to an accommodation fund administrated by government agency are 

charged to the consolidated income statement as and when they incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefi ts scheme

The Group operates a defi ned contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefi ts scheme (the 

“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all employees of the 

companies in Hong Kong who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made 

based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated income 

statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF 

Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s 

employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed to the MPF Scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 

i.e., assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are 

capitalised as part of the costs of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs cease when the 

assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 

investment of specifi c borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the 

borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are 

incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the 

borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the Directors are classifi ed as a separate allocation of retained earnings 

within the equity section of the statement of fi nancial position, until they have been approved by the 

shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the shareholders and 

declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the Company’s memorandum and 

articles of association grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim 

dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries incorporated outside Mainland China is Hong 

Kong dollars (“HKD”). The functional currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB. The fi nancial statements are 

presented in RMB, which is the Group’s presentation currency.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities within the Group are initially recorded using their 

respective functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the dates of transactions. Monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange 

ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the consolidated income statement. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in items of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using 

the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a 

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries incorporated outside Mainland China is 

currency other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities 

are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period and their income 

statements are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting 

exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate 

component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income 

relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, the cash fl ows of overseas entities within 

the Group are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash fl ows. Frequent 

recurring cash fl ows of overseas entities within the Group which arise throughout the year are translated 

into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Gains or losses on deemed disposal

Gains or losses on deemed disposal arising from changes in the proportionate interest of the Group in 

subsidiaries, with control retained, are dealt with in the consolidated income statement.

Acquisition of minority interests

Subsequent to an exchange transaction which resulted in a business combination, acquisition of minority 

interests of a subsidiary is accounted for by adopting the parent entity extension method. Under 

the parent entity extension method, the difference arising on the acquisition of minority interests of 

subsidiaries represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition and the Group’s interests in 

acquiree’s net asset acquired as at the date of acquisition, and is treated as goodwill/excess over the cost 

of business combinations. The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are not remeasured to refl ect their fair 

values at the date of the transaction.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s fi nancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 

disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these 

assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could require material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 

judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most signifi cant effect on the 

amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements:

(i) Operating lease commitments — the Group as lessor
The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. The 

Group has determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, 

that it retains all the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties which are leased 

out on operating leases.

(ii) Classifi cation between investment properties and owner-occupied properties
The Group determines whether a property qualifi es as an investment property, and has developed 

criteria in making that judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals or for 

capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash 

fl ows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise a 

portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is held 

for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these 

portions could be sold separately (or leased out separately), the Group accounts for the portions 

separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the property is an investment property 

only if an insignifi cant portion held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for 

administrative purposes.

If an item of any property under development becomes an investment property because its use has 

changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the 

date of transfer is recognised in consolidated income statement under HKAS 40.

Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so 

signifi cant that a property does not qualify as an investment property.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

(iii) Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for withholding corporate income taxes relating to the 

unremitted earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China that are subject 

to withholding taxes. Signifi cant management judgement is required to determine the amount 

of deferred tax liabilities, based upon the likely distribution level of such earnings from these 

subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. The carrying value of deferred tax liabilities arising from the 

withholding tax associated with the investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for the year ended 

31 December 2009 was RMB63,821,000 (2008: RMB37,440,000). Further details are contained in 

note 28 to the fi nancial statements.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 

the reporting period, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities within the next fi nancial year are discussed below.

(i) Impairment of goodwill
The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an 

estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. 

Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash 

fl ows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate 

the present value of those cash fl ows. The estimation of the expected future cash fl ows from cash-

generating unit could change signifi cantly should the cash-generating units fail to sustain the 

estimated growth. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2009 was RMB126,929,000 

(2008: RMB90,591,000).

(ii) Impairment of non-fi nancial assets (other than goodwill)
The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-fi nancial assets 

at the end of each reporting period. Non-fi nancial assets are tested for impairment when there 

are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the 

carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the 

higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs 

to sell is based on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of 

similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When 

value-in-use calculations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash fl ows 

from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the 

present value of those cash fl ows. For the year ended 31 December 2009, impairment losses in the 

amount of RMB268,699,000 (2008: RMB133,391,000) have been recognised as set out in note 8 to 

the fi nancial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii) Impairment of available-for-sale fi nancial assets
The Group classifi es certain assets as available for sale and recognises movements of their fair 

values in equity. When the fair value declines, management makes assumptions about the decline 

in value to determine whether there is an impairment that should be recognised in the consolidated 

income statement. For the year ended 31 December 2009, impairment losses in the amount of 

RMB167,143,000 (2008: RMB238,164,000) have been recognised for available-for-sale assets. The 

carrying amount of available-for-sale assets was RMB2,943,458,000 (2008: RMB1,905,289,000).

(iv) Estimation of fair value of investment properties
As described in note 14 to the fi nancial statements, investment properties were revalued on 31 

December 2009 on an open market value existing use basis by independent professional valuers. 

Such valuations were based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might 

materially differ from the actual results. In making the judgement, the Group considers information 

from current prices in an active market for similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly 

based on market conditions existing at the end of reporting period.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar properties, the Group considers 

information from a variety of sources, including:

(a) current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or location (or 

subject to different leases or other contracts), adjusted to refl ect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with adjustments to refl ect any 

changes in economic conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices; 

and

(c) discounted cash fl ow projections based on reliable estimates of future cash fl ows, supported 

by the terms of any existing lease and other contracts and (when possible) by external evidence 

such as current market rents for similar properties in the same location and condition, and 

using discount rates that refl ect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount 

and timing of the cash fl ows.

The principal assumptions for the Group’s estimation of the fair value include those related 

to current market rents for similar properties in the same location and condition, appropriate 

discount rates, expected future market rents and future maintenance costs. The carrying amount of 

investment properties at 31 December 2009 was RMB2,057,400,000 (2008: RMB429,000,000).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(v) Provision for bad debts of loans and receivables
The Group reviews the recoverability and ageing of loans and advances and provides impairment 

losses if the balances are not fully recoverable. The assessments involve estimation of the 

recoverability of these balances. Any change in the key sources of estimations would affect the 

carrying amount of the loans and advances, and provision expenses in the period in which such 

estimate has been changed.

(vi) Estimation of rehabilitation cost provision
Provisions for the Group’s obligations for land rehabilitation are based on estimates of required 

expenditure at the mines in accordance with PRC rules and regulations. The Group estimates its 

liabilities for fi nal rehabilitation and mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount 

and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the required work. Spending estimates are 

escalated for infl ation, then discounted at a discount rate that refl ects current market assessments 

of the time value of money and the risks specifi c to the liability such that the amount of provision 

refl ects the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

Estimates used in the provision of rehabilitation cost are subjective in nature and involve 

uncertainties and therefore cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions could 

signifi cantly affect these estimates.

(vii) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for its property, 

plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives 

of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change signifi cantly 

as a result of technical innovations, or competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. 

Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously 

estimated lives, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that 

have been abandoned or sold.

(viii) Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and carryforward of 

unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profi t will 

be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused 

tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised. Signifi cant management judgement is required to 

determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing 

and level of future taxable profi ts together with future tax planning strategies.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(ix) Net realisable value of inventories, property under development and completed 
properties for sale
Net realisable value of inventories, property under development and completed properties for sale 

is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to be incurred 

to completion and disposal. These estimates are based on the current market condition and the 

historical experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change signifi cantly as a result of 

changes in customer taste or competitor actions in response to severe consumer product industry 

cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at the end of each reporting period.

4. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Particulars of the principal companies comprising the Group, associates and jointly-controlled entities at 

31 December 2009 are set out below:

Name of company

Place and

date of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operation

Nominal  value 

of  registered/

paid-up  capital

RMB’000

Attributable  equity  interest

of the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect Effective

Subsidiaries

上海復星高科技（集團）
 有限公司

PRC 880,000 100.0% — 100.0% Investment holding

 (Shanghai Fosun High 21 November 1994

 Technology (Group) Co., Ltd.)

上海復星工業技術發展有限公司 PRC 1,200,000 — 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding

 (Shanghai Fosun Industrial 4 August 2003

 Technology Development

 Co., Ltd.)

上海復星產業投資有限公司 PRC 600,000 — 100.0% 100.0% Investment holding

 (Shanghai Fosun Industrial 22 November 2001

 Investment Co., Ltd.)
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4. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal companies comprising the Group, associates and jointly-controlled entities at 

31 December 2009 are set out below: (continued)

Name of company

Place and

date of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operation

Nominal  value 

of  registered/

paid-up  capital

RMB’000

Attributable  equity  interest

of the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect Effective

Steel segment

南京鋼鐵聯合有限公司 PRC 900,000 — 60.0% 60.0% Manufacture and

 (Nanjing Iron & Steel United

 Co., Ltd.)

24 March 2003  sale of iron and

 steel products

南京南鋼產業發展有限公司 PRC 1,850,000 — 60.0% 60.0% Manufacture and

 (Nanjing Iron & Steel Industry

 Development Co., Ltd.)

27 September 2009 sale of iron and

 steel products

南京南鋼鋼鐵聯合有限公司 PRC 3,000,000 — 60.0% 60.0% Manufacture and

 (Nanjing Nangang Iron &

 Steel United Co., Ltd.)

20 May 2009  sale of iron and

 steel products

南京鋼鐵股份有限公司 PRC 1,684,800 — 62.7% 37.6% Manufacture and

 (Nanjing Iron &

 Steel Co., Ltd.)

18 March 1999  sale of iron and

 steel products

南京鋼鐵有限公司 PRC 1,279,637 — 100.0% 60.0% Manufacture and

 (Nanjing Iron & Steel Limited) 28 June 2001  sale of iron and

 steel products

南京金騰鋼鐵有限公司 PRC 67,484 — 100.0% 60.0% Manufacture and

 (Nanjing Jinteng Iron

 & Steel Co., Ltd.)

22 February 1993  sale of iron and

  steel products

香港金騰國際有限公司 HK HKD20,000,000 — 100.0% 60.0% Trading and

 (Hong Kong Jinteng

 International Company

 Limited)

20 June 2005  technology 

 development 

 consulting
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4. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal companies comprising the Group, associates and jointly-controlled entities at 

31 December 2009 are set out below: (continued)

Name of company

Place and

date of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operation

Nominal  value 

of  registered/

paid-up  capital

RMB’000

Attributable  equity  interest

of the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect Effective

Pharmaceuticals segment

上海復星醫藥（集團）股份
 有限公司 *

 (Shanghai Fosun 

 Pharmaceutical (Group) 

 Co., Ltd)

PRC

13 July 1998

952,135 — 49.0% 49.0% Manufacture and

 sale of 

 pharmaceutical 

 products

上海復星醫藥產業發展有限公司
 (Shanghai Fosun 

 Pharmaceutical Development

 Company Limited)

PRC

27 November 2001

92,250 — 100.0% 49.0% Investment holding

上海復星醫藥投資有限公司
 (Shanghai Fosun Pharmacy 

 Investment Co., Ltd.)

PRC

1 September 2000

689,600 — 100.0% 49.0% Investment holding

上海復美益星大藥房連鎖
 有限公司
 (Shanghai Fosun Grant 

 Medicine Chain Operating

 Co., Ltd.)

PRC

21 March 2001

50,000 — 100.0% 48.9% Operation and 

 management 

 of chain stores

 of pharmaceutical

 products

Property development segment

復地（集團）股份有限公司
 (Shanghai Forte Land Co., Ltd.)

PRC

13 August 1998

505,861 12.9% 57.7% 65.7% Property development
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4. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal companies comprising the Group, associates and jointly-controlled entities at 

31 December 2009 are set out below: (continued)

Name of company

Place and

date of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operation

Nominal  value 

of  registered/

paid-up  capital

RMB’000

Attributable  equity  interest

of the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect Effective

Mining segment

海南礦業聯合有限公司
 (Hainan Mining United

 Co., Ltd.)

PRC

1 September 2007

1,500,000 — 60.0% 60.0% Mining and 

 ore processing

安徽金安礦業有限責任公司
 (Anhui Jin’an Mining United 

 Co., Ltd.)

PRC

24 July 2006

100,000 — 100.0% 60.0% Mining and

 ore processing

遵義縣世紀有色金屬
 有限責任公司
 (Zunyixian Shiji Nonferrous

 Metal Limited

 Liability Company)

PRC

12 November 2004

22,000 — 55.0% 55.0% Mining and  

 processing ore

托里縣紅山礦業金屬
 有限責任公司

(Tuolixian Hongshan Mining 

 and Metal Limited

 Liability Company)

PRC

22 October 2008

192,000 — 70.0% 42.0% Mining and

 processing ore
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4. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal companies comprising the Group, associates and jointly-controlled entities at 

31 December 2009 are set out below: (continued)

Name of company

Place and

date of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operation

Nominal  value 

of  registered/

paid-up  capital

RMB’000

Attributable  equity  interest

of the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect Effective

Associates

國藥產業投資有限公司
 (Sinopharm Industrial 

 Investment Co., Ltd.)

PRC

6 May 2008

700,000 — 49.0% 24.0% Sale of pharmaceutical 

 products

上海豫園旅遊商城股份
 有限公司@

 (Shanghai Yuyuan Tourist

 Mart Co., Ltd.)

PRC

13 May 1992

798,512 — 17.3% 17.3% Retail

唐山建龍實業有限公司
 (Tangshan Jianlong Industrial 

 Co., Ltd.)

PRC

15 September 2000

580,000 — 26.7% 26.7% Manufacture and 

 sale of iron and

 steel products

山西焦煤集團五麟煤焦開發
 有限公司
 (Shanxi Coking Coal Group 

 Wulin Coal Coke Development 

 Co., Ltd.)

PRC

15 May 2003

978,000 — 20.0% 20.0% Mining and refi ning

 of coal products

北京華夏建龍礦業科技
 有限公司@

 (Beijing Huaxia Jianlong Mining 

 Technology Co., Ltd.)

PRC

19 September 2003

108,750 — 18.4% 18.4% Mining and refi ning

 of steel ores

匯鑫生物漿紙股份有限公司
 (Huixin Biological Paper

 Co., Ltd.)

PRC

8 January 1993

200,000 — 30.0% 14.7% Manufacture and

 sale of paper 

 products
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4. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL COMPANIES COMPRISING THE GROUP, 
ASSOCIATES AND JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal companies comprising the Group, associates and jointly-controlled entities at 

31 December 2009 are set out below: (continued)

Name of company

Place and

date of 

incorporation/

registration and 

operation

Nominal  value 

of  registered/

paid-up  capital

RMB’000

Attributable  equity  interest

of the Company

Principal activitiesDirect Indirect Effective

Jointly-controlled entities

上海巨峰房地產開發有限公司
 (Shanghai Jufeng Property 

 Development Co., Ltd.)

PRC

4 June 2002

50,000 — 45.0% 29.6% Property development

無錫復地房地產開發有限公司
 (Wuxi Forte Real Estate 

 Development Co., Ltd.)

PRC

28 September 2004

195,000 — 50.0% 32.9% Property development

陝西省建秦房地產開發有限公司
 (Shaanxi Jianqin Real Estate 

 Development Co., Ltd.)

PRC

22 September 1992

130,000 — 50.0% 32.9% Property development

The English names of the above subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities are directly 

translated from their Chinese names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities of the Group which, in the 

opinion of the Directors of the Company, principally affected the results of the Group for the year ended 

31 December 2009 or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of 

other subsidiaries, associates and jointly-controlled entities would, in the opinion of the Directors of the 

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes:

* Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Fosun Pharma”) continues to be accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the 

Group’s control over the board of directors as well as the operating and fi nancial policies of this company, despite the fact that the 

Group’s equity interest in this company was 49.0% for the year ended 31 December 2009.

@ The Group’s interests in these associates are accounted for under the equity method of accounting because the Group has signifi cant 

infl uence over these entities by way of representation on the board of directors and participation in the policy-making process, despite 

the fact that the Group’s equity interest in these associates were lower than 20% for the year ended 31 December 2009.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and 

services and has fi ve reportable operating segments as follows:

(i) the pharmaceuticals segment engages in the research and development, manufacturing, sale and 

trading of pharmaceutical products;

(ii) the property development segment engages in the development and sale of properties in the PRC;

(iii) the steel segment engages in the manufacturing, sale and trading of iron and steel products;

(iv) the mining segment engages in the mining and ore processing of various metals; and

(v) the “others” segment comprises, principally, the management of investments in retail and services 

industries, and other strategic investments.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments separately for the purpose of making 

decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated 

based on reportable segment profi t or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profi t or loss after tax. The 

adjusted profi t or loss after tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profi t or loss after tax except 

that head offi ce and corporate expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to 

third parties at the prevailing market prices.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2009

Pharmaceuticals

Property 

development Steel Mining Others Eliminations Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue:

Sales to external customers 3,775,859 5,184,804 24,611,399 1,283,756 — — 34,855,818

Inter-segment sales — — — 684,197 — (684,197) —

Other income and gains 2,852,484 149,440 833,382 150,102 2,257,496 (21,080) 6,221,824

Total 6,628,343 5,334,244 25,444,781 2,118,055 2,257,496 (705,277) 41,077,642

Segment results 2,879,262 1,119,066 1,690,984 477,131 2,004,773 (21,455) 8,149,761

Interest and dividend income 18,299 8,519 147,607 9,555 201,299 (114,718) 270,561

Unallocated expenses (112,850)

Finance costs (142,411) (76,302) (699,082) (44,356) (146,184) — (1,108,335)

Share of profi ts and losses of

— Jointly-controlled entities (1,034) 14,859 — — — — 13,825

— Associates 442,221 (5,433) 432,647 (16,385) 109,513 — 962,563

Profi t before tax 3,196,337 1,060,709 1,572,156 425,945 2,169,401 (136,173) 8,175,525

Tax (700,396) (451,854) (46,635) (66,375) (97,258) 5,364 (1,357,154)

Profi t for the year 2,495,941 608,855 1,525,521 359,570 2,072,143 (130,809) 6,818,371

Segment and total assets 10,955,208 27,456,713 31,911,222 5,679,933 16,945,982 (4,795,025) 88,154,033

Segment and total liabilities 4,573,118 20,950,998 22,146,578 1,636,269 6,944,735 (4,469,943) 51,781,755

Other segment information:

Depreciation and amortisation 139,845 24,945 1,418,105 357,593 7,733 — 1,948,221

Impairment loss for

 non-current assets 53,257 3,179 — 266,562 116,023 — 439,021

Provision/(reversal) for 

 impairment of current assets 95 (19,168) 41,845 12,214 — — 34,986

Research and development costs 72,542 — 87,422 3,950 — — 163,914

Fair value gain on fair value 

 adjustments of investment 

 properties — (85,195) — — — — (85,195)

Fair value gain on

 equity investments at fair 

 value through profi t or loss (6,029) — (3,997) — (2,004,984) — (2,015,010)

Interests in jointly-controlled 

 entities 8,086 689,737 58,000 — — — 755,823

Investments in associates 5,690,233 598,892 1,693,961 587,285 1,050,997 — 9,621,368

Capital expenditure* 300,901 99,605 2,858,838 350,740 9,394 — 3,619,478
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Year ended 31 December 2008

Pharmaceuticals
Property 

development Steel Mining Others Eliminations Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue:
Sales to external customers 3,699,190 3,731,754 30,929,970 1,889,379 — — 40,250,293
Inter-segment sales — 1,501 — 1,217,288 — (1,218,789) —
Other income and gains 441,406 27,223 706,620 164,815 28,064 (15,657) 1,352,471

Total 4,140,596 3,760,478 31,636,590 3,271,482 28,064 (1,234,446) 41,602,764

Segment results 470,720 913,408 1,860,431 1,885,381 (272,253) — 4,857,687
Interest and dividend income 27,107 23,223 96,607 19,894 325,081 (170,797) 321,115
Unallocated expenses (97,376)
Finance costs (154,097) (44,421) (930,521) (45,603) (187,981) — (1,362,623)
Share of profi ts and losses of
— Jointly-controlled entities 47 (6,354) — — — — (6,307)
— Associates 375,666 1,222 (601,623) 319,292 59,899 — 154,456

Profi t/(loss) before tax 719,443 887,078 424,894 2,178,964 (75,254) (170,797) 3,866,952
Tax (74,745) (645,472) (141,046) (233,720) (54,085) — (1,149,068)

Profi t/(loss) for the year 644,698 241,606 283,848 1,945,244 (129,339) (170,797) 2,717,884

Segment and total assets 6,883,153 19,961,664 27,210,281 6,253,606 15,499,617 (6,036,554) 69,771,767

Segment and total liabilities 3,093,008 14,111,465 18,498,453 1,909,569 7,958,467 (5,842,282) 39,728,680

Other segment information:
Depreciation and amortisation 152,185 19,276 1,281,742 212,382 5,785 — 1,671,370
Impairment loss for
 non-current assets 18,875 197,191 700 114,516 47,238 — 378,520
Provision for impairment of 
 current assets 3,592 80,456 660,480 27,597 — — 772,125
Research and development costs 57,447 — 82,111 8,703 — — 148,261
Fair value loss on fair value 
 adjustments of
 investment properties — 27,000 — — — — 27,000
Fair value loss on equity 
 investments at fair value 
 through profi t or loss 24 — — — 9,276 — 9,300
Interests in jointly-controlled 
 entities 3,249 629,232 — — — — 632,481
Investments in associates 2,503,136 256,278 1,474,648 585,769 1,127,232 — 5,947,063
Capital expenditure* 241,329 35,835 1,894,997 697,614 20,081 — 2,889,856

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and equipment, prepaid land lease payments, exploration and evaluation 

assets and intangible assets.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Mainland China 34,182,605 39,394,256

Hong Kong 160 30

Other countries 673,053 856,007

34,855,818 40,250,293

The revenue information above is based on the location of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Mainland China 38,304,622 33,719,733

Hong Kong 81,317 58

38,385,939 33,719,791

The non-current assets information above is based on the location of assets and excludes fi nancial 

instruments and deferred tax assets.

Information about a major customer

No revenue amounting to 10 per cent or more of the Group’s revenue was derived from sales to a single 

customer for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008.
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods or properties sold after allowances for returns, trade 

discounts and various types of government surcharges, where applicable. In addition, it includes gross 

rental income received and receivable from investment properties during the year.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue

Sale of goods:

 Pharmaceutical products 3,760,378 3,683,947

 Properties 5,286,497 3,857,386

 Iron and steel products 24,707,403 30,441,286

 Iron concentrates 1,383,494 2,596,142

35,137,772 40,578,761

Rendering of services:

 Property agency 86,209 48,098

 Property management 38,645 19,734

 Rental 26,529 7,230

 Construction supervisory 12,884 9,234

 Property sales planning and advertising 6,998 6,167

 Others 45,535 57,279

216,800 147,742

Subtotal 35,354,572 40,726,503

Less: Government surcharges (498,754) (476,210)

34,855,818 40,250,293
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (continued)

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as follows: (continued)

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Other income
Interest income 159,312 252,179
Dividends from available-for-sale investments 109,835 66,763
Dividends from equity investments at fair value
 through profi t or loss 1,414 2,173
Gross rental income 43,960 45,170
Sale of scrap materials 69,994 88,864
Government grants 128,189 416,624
Consultancy income 138,248 87,970
Excess over the cost of business combinations realised
 as income (note 44(a)) — 6,520
Reversal of provision of inventories 19,168 —
Exchange gains, net 144,437 —
Others 69,740 54,110

884,297 1,020,373

Gains

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 44(b)) 494 4,710
Gain on disposal of partial interests in subsidiaries — 246,183
Gain on disposal of associates 640,145 172,541
Gain on disposal of partial interests in associates 27,096 4,347
Gain on deemed disposal of interests in associates 2,605,609 28,658
Gain on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 7,390 21,019
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments 135,863 161,305
Gain on disposal of equity investments at fair value
 through profi t or loss 42,379 14,450
Gain on disposal of non-current assets classifi ed
 as held for sale (note 29) 18,404 —
Gain on deemed acquisition of interests in a subsidiary 26,446 —
Gain on acquisition of interests in subsidiaries 4,057 —
Gain on fair value adjustment of investment properties (note 14) 85,195 —
Gain on fair value adjustment of equity investments
 at fair value through profi t or loss 2,015,010 —

5,608,088 653,213

Other income and gains 6,492,385 1,673,586

Total revenue, other income and gains 41,348,203 41,923,879
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7. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of fi nance costs is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank and other borrowings wholly repayable

 within fi ve years 1,462,897 1,700,642

Interest on bank and other borrowings not wholly repayable

 within fi ve years 11,132 21,188

Incremental interest on other long term payables (note 41) 26,949 33,873

1,500,978 1,755,703

Less: Interest capitalised, in respect of bank and

 other borrowings (notes 13 and 25) (452,140) (467,356)

Interest expenses, net 1,048,838 1,288,347

Interest on discounted bills 32,293 60,244

Interest on fi nance leases — 272

Bank charges and other fi nancial costs 27,204 13,760

Total fi nance costs 1,108,335 1,362,623

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group’s profi t before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost of sales 29,161,430 32,221,179

Staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments as set out in note 9):

 Wages and salaries 1,526,406 1,482,515

 Accommodation benefi ts:

  Defi ned contribution fund 81,022 98,761

 Retirement costs:

  Defi ned contribution fund 276,866 239,434

Total staff costs 1,884,294 1,820,710
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

The Group’s profi t before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): (continued)

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Research and development costs 163,914 148,261

Auditors’ remuneration 13,000 15,500

Inventories written off — 1,754

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 1,806,875 1,554,480

Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments (note 15) 20,947 18,962

Amortisation of mining rights (note 17) 110,573 72,011

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 18) 9,826 25,917

(Reversal)/provision for impairment of receivables (539) 16,125

Provision for inventories 54,693 675,544

(Reversal)/provision for properties under development (19,168) 80,456

Provision for impairment of items of property,

 plant and equipment (note 13) 1,043 133,391

Provision for impairment of mining rights (note 17) 266,562 —

Provision for impairment of intangible assets (note 18) 1,094 —

Provision for impairment of available-for-sale investments 167,143 238,164

Provision for impairment of goodwill 3,179 6,965

Operating lease rentals 58,928 32,182

Exchange loss, net — 159,113

Loss on disposal of an investment property 790 —

Loss on disposal of available-for-sale investments 2,220 2,476

Loss on deemed disposal of interests in an associate — 25,238

Loss on disposal of non-current assets classifi ed

 as held for sale (note 29) 1,419 —

Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment 12,673 19,362

Provision for indemnity of LAT (note 10) 10,041 15,624

Share-based payment expense (note 45) 16,426 —

Fair value loss on equity investments at fair value

 through profi t or loss — 9,300

Fair value loss on fair value adjustments of

 investment properties (note 14) — 27,000
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong 

Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 2,658 1,352

Salaries, allowances and benefi ts in kind 9,871 10,858

Pension scheme contributions 252 154

12,781 12,364

There were no emoluments paid by the Group to the Directors, as bonus, as an inducement to join the 

Group, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of offi ce during the year.

(a) Independent non-executive Directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors during the year were as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Andrew Y. Yan 353 356

Chen Kaixian 400 400

Zhang Shengman 353 356

1,106 1,112

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-executive Directors during the 

year (2008: Nil).
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Executive Directors and a non-executive Director

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances

and benefi ts

in kind

Pension

scheme 

contributions

Total 

remuneration

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2009

Executive Directors:

 Guo Guangchang 180 1,549 36 1,765

 Liang Xinjun 180 1,549 36 1,765

 Wang Qunbin 180 1,549 36 1,765

 Fan Wei 180 1,549 36 1,765

 Ding Guoqi 144 1,225 36 1,405

 Qin Xuetang 144 1,225 36 1,405

 Wu Ping 144 1,225 36 1,405

1,152 9,871 252 11,275

Non-executive Director:

 Liu Benren 400 — — 400

1,552 9,871 252 11,675
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Executive Directors and a non-executive Director (continued)

Fees

Salaries, 

allowances

and benefi ts

in kind

Pension

scheme 

contributions

Total 

remuneration

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Year ended 31 December 2008

Executive Directors:

 Guo Guangchang — 1,734 22 1,756

 Liang Xinjun — 1,634 22 1,656

 Wang Qunbin — 1,734 22 1,756

 Fan Wei — 1,734 22 1,756

 Ding Guoqi — 1,274 22 1,296

 Qin Xuetang — 1,374 22 1,396

 Wu Ping — 1,374 22 1,396

— 10,858 154 11,012

Non-executive Director:

 Liu Benren 240 — — 240

240 10,858 154 11,252

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agreed to waive any remuneration 

during the year.

(c) Five highest paid employees

The fi ve highest paid employees of the Group include fi ve Directors for the years ended 31 

December 2008 and 2009. Information relating to their emoluments is disclosed above.
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10. TAX

Hong Kong profi ts tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2008: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable 

profi ts arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profi ts assessable elsewhere have been calculated 

at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

The provision for Mainland China current income tax is based on a statutory rate of 25% (2008: 25%) of 

the assessable profi t of the Group as determined in accordance with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law 

which was approved and became effective on 1 January 2008, except for certain subsidiaries of the Group 

in Mainland China, which are exempted or taxed at preferential rates of 15% to 20%.

The major components of tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Group:

 Current — Hong Kong 14,829 37,832

 Current — Mainland China

  — Income tax in Mainland China for the year 719,098 914,217

  — LAT in Mainland China for the year 205,422 477,578

 Deferred tax (note 28) 417,805 (280,559)

Tax expenses for the year 1,357,154 1,149,068
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10. TAX (continued)

A reconciliation between the tax expense and the product of profi t before tax excluding share of profi ts 

and losses of associates and jointly-controlled entities multiplied by the applicable statutory rates for the 

jurisdictions in which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled is as follows:

Group — 2009

Hong Kong Mainland China Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Profi t before tax excluding share of profi ts

 and losses of jointly-controlled entities

 and associates 2,125,430 5,073,707 7,199,137

Tax at an applicable tax rate 350,696 1,268,427 1,619,123

Lower tax rate for specifi c entities — (78,415) (78,415)

Tax effect of:

 Income not subject to tax (335,479) (194,819) (530,298)

 Expenses not deductible for tax 5,337 44,594 49,931

 Tax losses not recognised — 101,850 101,850

 Tax losses utilised (6,304) (42,109) (48,413)

 Effect of withholding tax at 5%

  on the distributable profi ts of the

  Group’s PRC subsidiaries (note 28) — 63,821 63,821

 Under provision in prior years 579 20,325 20,904

 Tax incentives on eligible expenditures — (5,171) (5,171)

Subtotal 14,829 1,178,503 1,193,332

Additional LAT provision for the year — 112,768 112,768

Prepaid LAT for the year — 92,654 92,654

Deferred tax effect of additional LAT

 provision (note 28) — (28,192) (28,192)

Tax effect of prepaid LAT — (23,163) (23,163)

Tax effect of LAT indemnity (note 28) — 9,755 9,755

Tax expenses 14,829 1,342,325 1,357,154
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10. TAX (continued)

Group — 2008

Hong Kong Mainland China Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Profi t before tax excluding share of profi ts

 and losses of jointly-controlled entities

 and associates 39,773 3,679,030 3,718,803

Tax at an applicable tax rate 6,562 919,758 926,320

Lower tax rate for specifi c entities — (227,942) (227,942)

Tax effect of:

 Income not subject to tax (29,122) (28,701) (57,823)

 Expenses not deductible for tax 54,623 112,241 166,864

 Tax losses not recognised 5,755 163,556 169,311

 Tax losses utilised — (40,944) (40,944)

 Income tax deduction for use of

  manufacturing equipment made in

  Mainland China in prior years — (72,695) (72,695)

 Effect of withholding tax at 5%

  on the distributable profi ts of the Group’s

  PRC subsidiaries (note 28) — 37,440 37,440

 Under provision in prior years 14 808 822

 Tax incentives on eligible expenditures — (125,329) (125,329)

Subtotal 37,832 738,192 776,024

Additional LAT provision for the year — 432,415 432,415

Prepaid LAT for the year — 45,164 45,164

Deferred tax effect of additional LAT

 provision (note 28) — (108,104) (108,104)

Tax effect of prepaid LAT — (11,291) (11,291)

Tax effect of LAT indemnity (note 28) — 14,860 14,860

Tax expenses 37,832 1,111,236 1,149,068
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10. TAX (continued)

According to the tax notices issued by the relevant local tax authorities, the Group commenced to pay 

LAT at rates ranging from 1% to 3% on proceeds from the sale and pre-sale of properties from 2004. 

Prior to the year end of 2006, except for this amount paid to the local tax authorities, no further provision 

for LAT had been made. The Directors considered that the relevant tax authorities would be unlikely to 

impose additional LAT levies other than the amount already paid based on the relevant percentages of the 

proceeds from the sale and pre-sale of the Group’s properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, based on the latest understanding of the LAT regulations from the 

tax authorities, the Group made an additional LAT provision in the amount of RMB112,768,000 (2008: 

RMB432,415,000) in respect of the properties sold in 2009 in accordance with the requirements set forth 

in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations.

In 2004, Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd. (“Fosun Group”) and Shanghai Forte Land 

Co., Ltd. (“Forte”) entered into a deed of tax indemnity whereby Fosun Group has undertaken to 

indemnify Forte in respect of the LAT payable attributable to Forte and its subsidiaries (the “Forte Group”) 

in excess of the prepaid LAT based on 1% to 3% of sales proceeds, after netting off potential income tax 

savings, in consequence of the disposal of the properties owned by Forte as at 30 November 2003. As at 

31 December 2009, the LAT indemnity to Forte, after netting off potential income tax savings, amounted 

to RMB98,462,000 (2008: RMB59,441,000) and the deferred tax liability amounted to RMB72,316,000 

(2008: RMB62,561,000) as set out in note 28 to the fi nancial statements. The Group’s share of losses 

arising from the LAT indemnity amounted to RMB10,041,000 (2008: RMB15,624,000) as set out in note 8 

to the fi nancial statements.

11. DIVIDENDS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Proposed fi nal — HKD0.164 (2008: HKD0.08) per ordinary share 927,270 453,051

The proposed fi nal dividend of HKD0.08 per ordinary share for the year ended 31 December 2008 was 

declared payable and approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company on 19 

June 2009.

On 24 March 2010, the board of directors of the Company resolved to propose a fi nal dividend for 

the year ended 31 December 2009 of HKD0.164 per ordinary share, subject to the approval by the 

shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share attributable to owners of the parent are as follows:

Year ended 31 December

2009 2008

Profi t attributable to owners of the parent (RMB thousands) 4,646,679 1,328,391

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 6,421,595 6,423,147

Earnings per share basic and diluted (RMB) 0.72 0.21

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is based on the profi t for the year attributable 

to owners of the parent, and the weighted average number of shares of 6,421,595,000 (2008: 

6,423,147,000) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amount is equal to basic earnings per share amount for the years ended 31 

December 2009 and 2008, as no diluting events existed during these years.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Group

Buildings

Plant and 

machinery

Offi ce 

equipment

Motor 

vehicles

Leasehold

improvements

Mining

 infrastructure

Construction 

in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 2008 6,933,068 10,290,188 146,615 280,266 4,868 213,587 1,863,983 19,732,575

 Additions 4,583 214,029 34,598 42,194 801 — 2,181,655 2,477,860

 Transferred from

  construction in progress 585,286 1,626,919 69,580 1,461 — 79,753 (2,362,999) —

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

  (note 44(a)) 79,161 22,446 1,196 3,362 — — 34,242 140,407

 Disposal of subsidiaries

  (note 44(b)) (23,480) (9,304) (1,451) (1,773) — — — (36,008)

 Disposals (87,628) (180,550) (14,637) (21,292) — — — (304,107)

 Exchange realignment — — (44) — — — — (44)

 Reclassifi cation (34,379) 4,685 15,156 14,538 — — — —

 At 31 December 2008 and

  1 January 2009 7,456,611 11,968,413 251,013 318,756 5,669 293,340 1,716,881 22,010,683

 Additions 71,909 242,246 43,639 19,224 1,338 — 2,887,503 3,265,859

 Transferred from

  construction in progress 1,070,177 886,829 28,735 175 — 132,572 (2,118,488) —

 Acquisition of subsidiaries

  (note 44(a)) — 620 280 — (74) — 27,379 28,205

 Disposal of subsidiaries

  (note 44(b)) (467) (259) (42) (157) — — — (925)

 Disposals (61,592) (133,002) (10,030) (13,456) (4,868) — (18,391) (241,339)

 Assets included in assets of a 

  disposal group classifi ed

  as held for sale (note 29) — — (4,610) (946) — — — (5,556)

 At 31 December 2009 8,536,638 12,964,847 308,985 323,596 2,065 425,912 2,494,884 25,056,927

Accumulated depreciation:

 At 1 January 2008 886,620 3,066,332 66,044 97,735 1,688 2,686 — 4,121,105

 Charge for the year 380,417 1,090,037 45,409 28,298 1,323 12,547 — 1,558,031

 Disposal of subsidiaries

  (note 44(b)) (2,119) (6,149) (895) (751) — — — (9,914)

 Disposals (16,130) (135,319) (9,459) (16,283) — — — (177,191)

 Exchange realignment — — (34) — — — — (34)

 Reclassifi cation 383 382 (1,424) 659 — — — —

 At 31 December 2008 and

  1 January 2009 1,249,171 4,015,283 99,641 109,658 3,011 15,233 — 5,491,997
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group (continued)

Buildings

Plant and 

machinery

Offi ce 

equipment

Motor

vehicles

Leasehold 

improvements

Mining 

infrastructure

Construction

in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Accumulated depreciation: (continued)

 At 31 December 2008 and

  1 January 2009 1,249,171 4,015,283 99,641 109,658 3,011 15,233 — 5,491,997

 Charge for the year 429,488 1,166,452 62,870 41,984 165 105,916 — 1,806,875

 Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44(b)) (467) (211) (42) (23) — — — (743)

 Disposals (27,088) (95,643) (7,208) (10,673) (2,375) — — (142,987)

 Assets included in assets of a

  disposal group classifi ed as held for sale

  (note 29) — — (467) (551) — — — (1,018)

 At 31 December 2009 1,651,104 5,085,881 154,794 140,395 801 121,149 — 7,154,124

Impairment loss:

 At 1 January 2008 4,398 6,006 17 2,396 — — 75 12,892

 Charge for the year 57,313 35,189 255 371 — — 40,263 133,391

 Disposals — (3,742) (10) (2,422) — — — (6,174)

 At 31 December 2008 and

  1 January 2009 61,711 37,453 262 345 — — 40,338 140,109

 Charge for the year 823 205 15 — — — — 1,043

 Transferred from construction in progress — 40,263 — — — — (40,263) —

 Disposals (1,526) (3,909) (139) (10) — — — (5,584)

 At 31 December 2009 61,008 74,012 138 335 — — 75 135,568

Net book value:

 At 31 December 2009 6,824,526 7,804,954 154,053 182,866 1,264 304,763 2,494,809 17,767,235

 At 31 December 2008 6,145,729 7,915,677 151,110 208,753 2,658 278,107 1,676,543 16,378,577
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group (continued)

(1) The net book value of property, plant and equipment pledged as security for interest-bearing bank 

loans granted to the Group is as follows (note 36):

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Buildings 255,597 841,113

Plant and machinery 589,936 1,329,420

845,533 2,170,533

(2) Capitalised interest expenses included in construction in progress of the Group are as follows (note 

7):

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest expenses capitalised 2,950 195,594

(3) As at 31 December 2009, the Group was in the process of applying for property certifi cates 

for plant and offi ce buildings with a net book value of approximately RMB7,288,000 (2008: 

RMB141,850,000).
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company

Offi ce

equipment

RMB’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 2008 773

 Additions 50

 Exchange realignment (44)

 At 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 779

Accumulated depreciation:

 At 1 January 2008 592

 Charge for the year 167

 Exchange realignment (34)

 At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 725

 Charge for the year 32

 At 31 December 2009 757

Net book value:

 At 31 December 2009 22

 At 31 December 2008 54
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount at 1 January 429,000 456,000

Transfer from properties under development 1,972,205 —

Gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments (notes 6 and 8) 85,195 (27,000)

Disposals (429,000) —

Carrying amount at 31 December 2,057,400 429,000

The Group’s investment properties are situated in Beijing and Hangzhou, the PRC.

The Group’s investment properties were revalued on 31 December 2009 by Jones Lang LaSalle Sallmanns 

Limited (“Sallmanns”), independent professionally qualifi ed valuers at RMB2,057,400,000, on an open 

market, existing use basis. The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating leases 

arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to seventeen years.

At 31 December 2009, the Group’s investment properties with a net carrying amount of approximately 

RMB2,057,400,000 (2008: RMB429,000,000) were pledged to a bank for interest-bearing bank loans, as 

set out in note 36 to the fi nancial statements.
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15. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 954,796 951,175

 Additions during the year 292,044 4,205

 Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 44(a)) — 2,668

 Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44(b)) (2,500) —

 Disposals — (3,252)

At 31 December 1,244,340 954,796

Accumulated amortisation:

 At 1 January 61,392 42,799

 Amortisation for the year 20,947 18,962

 Disposal of subsidiaries (note 44(b)) (654) —

 Disposals — (369)

 At 31 December 81,685 61,392

Net book value:

 At 31 December 1,162,655 893,404

 At 1 January 893,404 908,376

 Net book value pledged as security for bank loans (note 36) 31,389 1,267,674

The leasehold land is held under long term leases and is situated in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group was in the process of applying for the land use certifi cates for 

leasehold land with a net book value of approximately RMB193,484,000 (2008: RMB8,296,000).
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16. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 386,645 —

 Additions 34,044 381,645

 Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 44(a)) — 5,000

 At 31 December 420,689 386,645

17. MINING RIGHTS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 1,203,534 567,271

 Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 44(a)) — 636,263

 At 31 December 1,203,534 1,203,534

Accumulated amortisation:

 At 1 January 92,813 20,802

 Amortisation for the year 110,573 72,011

 At 31 December 203,386 92,813

Impairment loss:

 At 1 January — —

 Charge for the year 266,562 —

 At 31 December 266,562 —

Net book value:

 At 31 December 733,586 1,110,721

 At 1 January 1,110,721 546,469

 Net book value pledged as security for bank loans (note 36) 141,289 148,595
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17. MINING RIGHTS (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2009, total impairment losses in the amount of RMB266,562,000 

(2008: Nil) were recognised for mining rights of Zunyixian Shiji Nonferrous Metal Limited Liability 

Company and Tuolixian Hongshan Mining and Metal Limited Liability Company, which are set out in note 

8 to the fi nancial statements. The triggers for the impairment tests were primarily the decreases in the 

market prices from ammonium molybdate and iron ore.

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Patents and 

licences
Technical 

know-how Others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:
 At 1 January 2008 688 20,133 19,767 40,588
 Additions — 23,409 2,737 26,146
 Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 44(a)) — — 6,929 6,929
 Disposals (688) (1,617) (3,146) (5,451)

 At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 — 41,925 26,287 68,212
 Additions — 680 26,851 27,531
 Disposals — (41,983) (10,939) (52,922)

 At 31 December 2009 — 622 42,199 42,821

Accumulated amortisation:
 At 1 January 2008 97 7,690 7,449 15,236
 Provided during the year 14 23,712 2,191 25,917
 Disposals (111) — (1,656) (1,767)

 At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 — 31,402 7,984 39,386
 Provided during the year — 1,229 8,597 9,826
 Disposals — (38,570) (3,401) (41,971)

 At 31 December 2009 — (5,939) 13,180 7,241

Impairment loss:
 At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 — — — —
 Charge for the year — 1,094 — 1,094

 At 31 December 2009 — 1,094 — 1,094

Net book value:
 At 31 December 2009 — 5,467 29,019 34,486

 At 31 December 2008 — 10,523 18,303 28,826
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19. GOODWILL

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost:

 At 1 January 265,237 249,975

 Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 44(a)) — 8,297

 Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries 39,517 6,965

 At 31 December 304,754 265,237

Accumulated impairment:

 At 31 December (177,825) (174,646)

Net book value:

 At 31 December 126,929 90,591

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been primarily allocated to the following two cash-

generating units (“CGUs”), which are reportable segments, for impairment testing:

•  Manufacture and sale of pharmaceutical products; and

• Property development

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the CGUs is as follows:

Manufacture 

and sale of 

pharmaceutical 

products

Property 

development Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying amount of goodwill

2009 57,299 65,867 3,763 126,929

2008 51,109 35,719 3,763 90,591
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19. GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. The calculation 
uses cash fl ow projections based on fi nancial budgets approved by management covering a fi ve-year 
period. The discount rates applied to the cash fl ow projections range from 12% to 15% (2008: 13% to 
15%). Cash fl ows beyond the fi ve-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates. The 
growth rates do not exceed the projected long term average growth rates for the pharmaceutical and 
property development industries in Mainland China.

Key assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the CGUs for 31 December 2009 and 2008. 
The following describes each key assumption on which management has based its cash fl ow projections 
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined budgeted gross margin based on past performance 
and its expectations for the development of the market.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and refl ect specifi c risks relating to the respective 
industries.

Raw materials price infl ation — The basis used to determine the value assigned to raw materials price 
infl ation is the forecast price indices during the budget year.

20. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted shares, at cost (1) 1,093,000 1,093,000
Shares listed in Hong Kong, at cost (2) 651,290 651,290
Loan to a subsidiary (3) 176,096 176,378

1,920,386 1,920,668

Market value of listed shares 728,357 356,145

(1) Investment in unlisted shares of a subsidiary represents the cost of acquisition of the entire interest in Fosun Group, which is the 
immediate holding company of the other subsidiaries now comprising the Group.

(2) Investment in shares listed in Hong Kong represents the cost of acquisition of the 12.9% interest in Forte on the Hong Kong Stock 
Exchange.

(3) The amounts advanced to a subsidiary included in the interests in subsidiaries above are unsecured, interest-free and have no fi xed terms 
of repayment. In the opinion of the Company’s Directors, these advances are considered as quasi-equity loans to the subsidiary. The 
carrying amounts of the balance due from a subsidiary approximate to their fair values.

Particulars of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note 4 to the fi nancial statements.
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21. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of net assets 339,423 216,081

Loans to jointly-controlled entities 416,400 416,400

755,823 632,481

Loans to jointly-controlled entities of RMB416,400,000 are unsecured, interest-free and have no 
fi xed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the Directors, these loans are considered as quasi-equity 
investments in jointly-controlled entities.

The Group’s amounts due from jointly-controlled entities and amounts due to jointly-controlled entities 
are disclosed in note 35 to the fi nancial statements.

Particulars of the Group’s principal jointly-controlled entities are set out in note 4 to the fi nancial 
statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised fi nancial information of the Group’s jointly-controlled 
entities:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ assets and liabilities:

 Current assets 996,498 837,200

 Non-current assets 341,665 169,630

 Current liabilities (734,956) (593,194)

 Non-current liabilities (263,784) (197,555)

 Net assets 339,423 216,081

Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ results:

 Revenue 196,312 3,116

 Other income 3,243 1,206

199,555 4,322

 Total expenses (181,640) (8,222)

 Tax (4,090) (2,407)

 Profi t/(loss) after tax 13,825 (6,307)
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Share of net assets 9,219,842 5,556,904

Goodwill on acquisitions 402,411 391,044

9,622,253 5,947,948

Provision for impairment (885) (885)

9,621,368 5,947,063

Particulars of the Group’s principal associates are set out in note 4 to the fi nancial statements.

Company

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted shares, at cost 82,421 82,421

The Company’s investment in an associate represents a 26.67% (2008: 26.67%) interest in Janeboat 

Holdings Ltd., a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The Group’s amounts due from associates and amounts due to associates are disclosed in note 35 to the 

fi nancial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised fi nancial information of the Group’s associates extracted 

from their fi nancial statements:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets 95,639,664 85,631,294

Liabilities (58,596,451) (62,636,336)

Revenues 99,615,367 103,067,413

Profi t/(Loss) 3,785,870 (170,001)
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22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The major changes of interests in associates during the year are set out as follows:

(i) On 27 February 2009, Shanghai Fosun Industrial Investment Co., Ltd. (“Fosun Industrial 

Investment”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of its entire 19.74% equity 

interest in Tebon Securities Co., Ltd. to Shanghai Xingye Investment Development Co., Ltd. for a 

consideration of RMB243,041,000. The carrying amount as at the date of disposal amounted to 

RMB241,580,000. The gains from the disposal of RMB1,461,000 were credited to other gains during 

the year as set out in note 6 to the fi nancial statements.

(ii) On 27 February 2009, Nanjing Iron & Steel United Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Steel United”), a 60% 

owned subsidiary of the Company, disposed of its entire 20% equity interest in Ningbo Iron & 

Steel Co., Ltd. (“Ningbo Steel”) to Hangzhou Iron & Steel Group Company for a consideration 

of RMB720,000,000. The carrying amount as at the date of disposal was nil. The gains from the 

disposal amounting to RMB636,182,000, after giving effect to bearing Ningbo Steel’s accumulated 

loss of RMB83,818,000 as agreed in the disposal agreement, were credited to other gains during the 

year as set out in note 6 to the fi nancial statements.

(iii) On 16 February 2009, Shanghai Qishen Investment Co., Ltd. (“Qishen Investment”), a subsidiary 

of Fosun Pharma and China National Pharmaceutical Group Corporation injected capital of 

RMB294,000,000 and RMB306,000,000, respectively, into Sinopharm Industrial Investment Co., 

Ltd. (“Sinopharm Investment”) in proportion to their shareholdings in Sinopharm Investment. 

Upon completion of the capital increment, Qishen Investment continued to hold 49% interests in 

Sinopharm Investment.

(iv) On 23 September 2009, Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd. (“Sinopharm”), an indirect associate of the 

Group, completed its global offering and the shares of Sinopharm were listed on the Hong Kong 

Stock Exchange. Upon the listing, the Group’s direct interest in Sinopharm was diluted from 47.04% 

to 34.00%. The gains on deemed disposal of Sinopharm amounting to RMB2,603,969,000, after 

giving effect to the goodwill disposed of amounting to RMB8,384,000, were credited to other gains 

during the year as set out in note 6 to the fi nancial statements.
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23. HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Debt investments 79,220 63,761

Company

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Debt investments 35,320 31,696

During the year, the effective interest rates of the held-to-maturity investments ranged from 7.1% to 

36.7% (2008: 7.1% to 36.7%) per annum. The carrying amounts of the held-to-maturity investments 

approximate to their fair values.

As at 31 December 2009, no held-to-maturity investments of the Group (2008: RMB31,696,000) was 

pledged to secure bank loans, as set out in the note 36 to the fi nancial statements.
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Listed equity investments, at fair value

 Hong Kong 275,074 73,490

 United States 454,615 154,558

 Mainland China 139,084 165,544

868,773 393,592

Unlisted equity investments, at cost 2,074,685 1,511,697

2,943,458 1,905,289

During the year, the gross gain in respect of the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in other 

comprehensive income amounted to RMB705,720,000 (2008: gross loss of RMB342,195,000), of which 

RMB52,910,000 (2008: RMB174,256,000) was re-classifi ed from other comprehensive income to the 

consolidated income statement for the year.

The unlisted equity investments are stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses because the 

range of reasonable fair value estimates is so signifi cant that the directors are of the opinion that their fair 

value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

As at 31 December 2009, part of the Group’s available-for-sale investments with an amount of 

approximately RMB163,769,000 (2008: RMB134,195,000) were pledged to secure bank loans as set out 

in note 36 to the fi nancial statements.
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25. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Land costs 8,869,790 8,227,326

Construction costs 2,605,321 3,801,908

Capitalised fi nancial costs 482,510 758,466

11,957,621 12,787,700

Portion classifi ed as current assets (6,868,166) (6,121,600)

5,089,455 6,666,100

The properties pledged to banks to secure bank loans and other borrowings are as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net book value pledged (note 36) 4,639,332 3,937,313

Additions to properties under development include:

 Interest expense capitalised in respect of bank

  and other borrowings (note 7) 449,190 271,762

The Group’s properties under development are all situated in Mainland China.

26. LOAN RECEIVABLE

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Loan receivable from a jointly-controlled entity 220,000 220,000

As at 31 December 2009, the loan receivable represented the entrusted bank loan of RMB220,000,000 

provided to a jointly-controlled entity. This loan is unsecured, interest-bearing at a variable interest rate of 

7.02% per annum based on the rates quoted by the People’s Bank of China and repayable on 20 October 

2011.

The carrying amount of the loan receivable approximated to its fair values as at 31 December 2009.
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27. PREPAYMENTS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments for investments 616,313 1,156,383

As at 31 December 2009, the prepayment for an investment is in respect of the proposed acquisition of 

an equity interest in Shanghai Dijie Real Estate Limited (“Dijie”).

On 20 December 2007, Shanghai Forte Investment Co., Ltd. (“Forte Investment”) entered into a 

cooperative agreement with Shanghai Vanke Real Estate Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Vanke”) in respect of 

the joint development of a property development project in Shanghai, for a total consideration of 

RMB2,430,690,000, pursuant to which (i) Shanghai Vanke and Forte Investment will jointly acquire 60% 

and 40% equity interests in Dijie, respectively, and (ii) Forte Investment will contribute 40% of the total 

consideration in proportion to its shareholding in Dijie in the amount of RMB972,276,000.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had advanced RMB616,313,000 (31 December 2008: 

RMB616,313,000) to Shanghai Vanke. The remaining capital commitment not paid as at 31 December 

2009 amounting to RMB355,963,000 (31 December 2008: RMB355,963,000) is set out in note 47 to the 

fi nancial statements.
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28. DEFERRED TAX

Movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

Deferred tax assets

Losses 

available for 

offsetting 

against future 

taxable future 

taxable profi t

Accruals and 

provisions

Post-

employment 

benefi ts

Repairs and 

maintenance

Additional 

LAT 

provisions Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2008 36,082 48,405 8,875 3,327 167,256 19,481 283,426

Deferred tax credited/

 (charged) during the year 19,567 216,843 (1,221) 3,324 108,104 33,287 379,904

Gross deferred tax assets 

 at 31 December 2008 and 

 1 January 2009 55,649 265,248 7,654 6,651 275,360 52,768 663,330

Deferred tax credited/

 (charged) during the year 188,507 (123,106) (4,267) 3,391 28,192 45,019 137,736

Gross deferred tax assets 

 at 31 December 2009 244,156 142,142 3,387 10,042 303,552 97,787 801,066

The following is an analysis of the deferred tax assets of the Group for fi nancial reporting purposes:

2009 2008

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred tax assets recognised 

 in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position 801,066 663,330

Deferred tax assets in the disposal group 29 7,081 —

793,985 663,330
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28. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities

Fair value 

adjustments 

arising from 

acquisition 

of 

subsidiaries

Fair value 

adjustments 

arising from 

available-

for-sale 

investments

Revaluation 

of 

investment 

properties

LAT 

indemnity

Deemed 

disposal of 

associates Others

Withholding 

taxes Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2008 243,968 88,090 37,010 47,701 — 6,475 — 423,244

Deferred tax charged/(credited) 

 to the consolidated 

 income statement during the year (22,511) — (9,187) 14,860 — 78,743 37,440 99,345

Deferred tax charged to 

 reserve during the year — (46,047) — — — — — (46,047)

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 44(a)) 89,039 — — — — — — 89,039

Gross deferred tax liabilities 

 at 31 December 2008 and 

 1 January 2009 310,496 42,043 27,823 62,561 — 85,218 37,440 565,581

Deferred tax charged/(credited) 

 to the consolidated 

 income statement during the year (105,960) — (6,524) 9,755 651,402 (56,953) 63,821 555,541

Deferred tax charged to 

 reserve during the year — 120,851 — — — — — 120,851

Gross deferred tax liabilities 

 at 31 December 2009 204,536 162,894 21,299 72,316 651,402 28,265 101,261 1,241,973

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding corporate income tax is levied on 

dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland 

China. The requirement became effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 

2007. A lower withholding corporate income tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between 

Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable withholding 

rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those 

subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and associates established in Mainland China in respect of earnings 

generated from 1 January 2008.
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29. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP/NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS 
HELD FOR SALE

As at 31 December 2009, the assets of a disposal group classifi ed as held for sale represent the Group’s 

investment in a subsidiary, Tianjin Forte Puhe Development Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin Forte”). As at 31 December 

2008, the non-current assets classifi ed as held for sale represent the Group’s investments in two 

associates, Zhaojin Mining Industry Co., Ltd. (“Zhaojin Mining”) and Hainan Wuzhishan (Group) Co., Ltd. 

(“Hainan Wuzhishan”).

(a) In December 2009, the Group through its subsidiary, Shanghai Forte Land Co., Ltd., entered into an 

equity transfer agreement with HNA Group, for the disposal of the Group’s entire shareholding of 

75% in Tianjin Forte for the consideration of RMB1,176,790,000. Tianjin Forte is principally engaged 

in the development and sale of properties in Tianjin, and included in the property development 

segment under note 5 to the fi nancial statements.

As the disposal transaction is expected to be completed within the next 12 months from 31 

December 2009, the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Tianjin Forte were classifi ed as 

held for sale in the consolidated statement of fi nancial position as at 31 December 2009.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Tianjin Forte classifi ed as held for sale as at 31 December 

2009 are as follows:

2009

Notes RMB’000

Assets

Property, plant and equipment 13 4,538

Deferred tax assets 28 7,081

Completed properties for sale 1,475,662

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables 5,674

Trade receivables 11,121

Cash and bank balances 44,818

Assets of a disposal group classifi ed as held for sale 1,548,894

Liabilities

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 574,570

Trade and notes payables 286,767

Accrued liabilities and other payables 9,973

Tax payable 44,251

Loan from a related company 81,832

Liabilities directly associated with the assets classifi ed as held for sale 997,393
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29. ASSETS OF A DISPOSAL GROUP/NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS 
HELD FOR SALE (continued)

(b) In November 2008, the Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Shanghai Fosun Industrial 

Investment Co., Ltd., entered into a disposal agreement with an associate of the Group, Shanghai 

Yuyuan Tourist Mart Co., Ltd. (“Yuyuan”), for the disposal of the Group’s partial shareholding of 

10.9% in Zhaojin Mining with the consideration for the disposal of RMB394,320,000. As at 31 

December 2008, the Group received the advance payment of RMB197,160,000.

As at 31 December 2009, the disposal transaction has been completed and all the consideration has 

been received. The loss on disposal of Zhaojin Mining amounting to RMB1,419,000 was recorded in 

other expenses as set out in note 8 to the fi nancial statements.

(c) In November 2008, the Group through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Taizhou Linhai Investment 

Co., Ltd. and Shanghai Fosun Chuangfu Investment Management Co., Ltd., entered into a disposal 

agreement with an external third party, the original individual shareholders of Hainan Wuzhishan, 

for the disposal of the Group’s entire shareholding of 40% in Hainan Wuzhishan with the 

consideration for the disposal of RMB214,000,000.

As at 31 December 2009, the disposal consideration of RMB184,000,000 has been received and the 

gain on the disposal of Hainan Wuzhishan being the difference between the carrying amount and 

the disposal consideration received amounting to RMB18,404,000 was credited to other gains as set 

out in note 6 to the fi nancial statements.
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30. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash on hand 3,327 7,245
Cash at banks, unrestricted 11,546,913 9,570,450

Cash and cash equivalents 11,550,240 9,577,695
Pledged bank balances (1) 2,084,160 896,578
Time deposits with original maturity of 
 more than three months (2) 2,313,171 1,216,742

15,947,571 11,691,015

Notes:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

(1) Pledged bank balances to secure notes payable 1,511,684 872,900

Pledged bank balances to secure bank loans (note 36) 520,658 —

(2) Time deposits with original maturity of more than 

 three months pledged to banks to secure bank loans (note 36) 2,216,434 913,446

In the preparation of the consolidated statement of cash fl ows, pledged bank balances and time deposits 

with original maturity of more than three months have been excluded from cash and cash equivalents.

Cash at banks earns interest at fl oating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits 

are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash 

requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank 

balances and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

Company

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash at banks, unrestricted 1,754,192 475,628
Time deposits with original maturity of more than three months 704,384 705,512

2,458,576 1,181,140
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31. EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Listed equity investments, at market value

 Hong Kong 5,949 49,637

 United States 4,100,976 1,485,072

 Mainland China 804,058 190

 Elsewhere 11,270 —

4,922,253 1,534,899

Company

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Listed equity investments, at market value

 Hong Kong 5,949 49,637

 United States 4,100,544 1,485,072

4,106,493 1,534,709

The above equity investments at 31 December 2009 and 2008 were classifi ed as held for trading.

As at 31 December 2009, no equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss of the Group (2008: 

RMB534,739,000) was pledged to secure bank loans, as set out in note 36 to the fi nancial statements.

32. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 1,012,058 1,068,676

Notes receivable 3,756,933 1,372,764

4,768,991 2,441,440
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32. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

An aged analysis of trade receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is 

as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Outstanding balances with ages:

 Within 90 days 831,628 939,067

 91 to 180 days 146,081 75,258

 181 to 365 days 36,593 35,977

 1 to 2 years 7,271 26,742

 2 to 3 years 6,302 8,906

 Over 3 years 50,663 61,040

1,078,538 1,146,990

Less: Provision for impairment of trade receivables (66,480) (78,314)

1,012,058 1,068,676

The carrying amounts of trade and notes receivables approximate to their fair values.

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 78,314 129,362

Amount written off as uncollectible (8,661) (55,535)

(Reversal)/provision of impairment losses (3,457) 6,406

Acquisition of subsidiaries 284 —

Disposal of subsidiaries — (1,919)

At 31 December 66,480 78,314
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32. TRADE AND NOTES RECEIVABLES (continued)

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Neither past due nor impaired 581,927 232,060

Within 90 days past due 258,424 558,679

91 to 180 days past due 21,665 55,409

Over 180 days past due 5,594 48,723

867,610 894,871

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large number of diversifi ed customers for 

whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of independent customers that have 

a good track record with the Group. Based on past experience, the Directors of the Company are of the 

opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not been a 

signifi cant change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group does 

not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances.

The Group has pledged notes receivable of approximately RMB112,700,000 (2008: RMB112,000,000) to 

secure bank loans, as set out in note 36 to the fi nancial statements.

At 31 December 2009, the discounted or endorsed but undue notes of approximately RMB5,904,751,000 

(2008: RMB2,467,601,000) were derecognised. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and 

up to the date when the fi nancial statements were approved by the board of directors, an amount of 

RMB3,232,998,000 of the aforementioned discounted or endorsed notes fell due.

Credit terms granted to the Group’s customers are as follows:

Credit terms

Steel segment 0 to 90 days

Mining segment 0 to 90 days

Pharmaceuticals segment 90 to 180 days

Property development segment 30 to 360 days
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33. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments consist of:

 Prepayments for purchase of raw materials of steel 450,432 293,724

 Prepayments for purchase of pharmaceutical materials 135,639 34,210

 Prepayments for purchase of construction materials 223,317 155,439

 Prepayments for purchase of equipment and others 443,556 357,278

Deposits 985,868 214,318

Other receivables consist of:

 Loans to third parties 23,080 75,578

 Tax recoverable 283,815 1,168,632

 Others 747,389 494,801

3,293,096 2,793,980

Company

Interest receivables 550 483

Deposits 1,017 1,064

1,567 1,547

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other receivables approximate to their fair values.
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34. INVENTORIES

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials 2,803,331 3,024,847

Work in progress 917,803 1,489,866

Finished goods 1,164,593 1,547,857

Spare parts and consumables 801,198 840,489

5,686,925 6,903,059

Less: Provision for inventories (103,254) (699,384)

5,583,671 6,203,675

Net book value of inventories pledged as security for 

 bank loans (note 36) 200,000 —
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35. BALANCES WITH SHAREHOLDERS, SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED 
COMPANIES

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

Due from related companies:

 Associates (i) 722,109 418,085

 Jointly-controlled entities (ii) 348,560 334,286

 Minority shareholders of subsidiaries (ii) 29,828 78,582

1,100,497 830,953

Portion classifi ed as current 908,592 830,953

191,905 —

Company

Due from subsidiaries (ii) 8,334,529 8,495,874

Notes:

(i) The balances due from associates represent:

(1) An amount of RMB676,108,000 (2008: RMB316,525,000), which is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(2) The remaining balances due from associates are trade in nature, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(ii) The balances due from subsidiaries, jointly-controlled entities and minority shareholders of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and 

repayable on demand.
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35. BALANCES WITH SHAREHOLDERS, SUBSIDIARIES AND RELATED 
COMPANIES (continued)

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Group

Due to the holding company (v) 878,749 568,819

Due to related companies:

 Associates (iv) 87,523 314,841

 Minority shareholders of subsidiaries (iii) 206,900 428,294

 Jointly-controlled entities (iii) 51,000 121,000

345,423 864,135

Company

Due to the holding company (v) 878,749 568,819

Notes:

(iii) The balances due to minority shareholders of subsidiaries and jointly-controlled entities are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 

demand.

(iv) The balances due to associates include the amount of RMB72,916,000 (2008: RMB304,684,000), which is unsecured, interest-free and 

repayable on demand. The remaining balances due to associates are trade in nature, interest-free and repayable on demand.

(v) The balances due to the holding company represent the dividend payables which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of the balances with shareholders, subsidiaries and related companies approximate 

to their fair values.

The nature of the transactions with shareholders, and related companies is disclosed in note 49 to the 

fi nancial statements.
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36. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Group

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans: (1)
 Guaranteed 65,150 169,200
 Secured 10,275,254 8,877,560
 Unsecured 13,136,742 12,907,103

23,477,146 21,953,863

Enterprise bonds (2) 2,482,589 —
Corporate bonds (3) 1,869,304 —
Short term commercial papers — 1,397,747
Unsecured other borrowings (4) 876,330 1,046,679

Total 28,705,369 24,398,289

Repayable:
 Within one year 16,792,363 15,228,528
 In the second year 2,739,988 4,047,275
 In the third to fi fth years, inclusive 5,703,745 5,036,031
 Over fi ve years 3,469,273 86,455

28,705,369 24,398,289

Portion classifi ed as current liabilities (16,792,363) (15,228,528)

Long term portion 11,913,006 9,169,761
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36. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Group (continued)

Notes:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

(1) Bank loans

Guaranteed by related parties 65,150 169,200

Secured by:
 Buildings (note 13) 255,597 841,113
 Plant and machinery (note 13) 589,936 1,329,420
 Investment properties (note 14) 2,057,400 429,000
 Prepaid land lease payments (note 15) 31,389 1,267,674
 Mining rights (note 17) 141,289 148,595
 Inventories (note 34) 200,000 —
 Time deposits with original maturity
  of more than three months (note 30) 2,216,434 913,446
 Pledged bank balances (note 30) 520,658 —
 Interest in a subsidiary 327,061 618,065
 Notes receivable (note 32) 112,700 112,000
 Properties under
  development (note 25) 4,639,332 3,937,313
 Completed properties for sale 41,632 —
 Available-for-sale investments (note 24) 163,769 134,195
 Equity investments at fair value
  through profi t or loss (note 31) — 534,739
 Held-to-maturity investments (note 23) — 31,696

11,297,197 10,297,256

The bank loans bear interest at 0.27% 1.60%
 rates per annum in the range of to 7.74% to 9.02%

(2) Enterprise bonds

On 27 February 2009, Nanjing Steel United issued long-term enterprise bonds with the par value of RMB2,500,000,000 and the 

effective interest rate is 6.29% per annum. One half of the principal of the enterprise bonds will be repaid on 27 February 2015 and 

the remainder on 27 February 2016. Interest will be paid annually in arrears.

(3) Corporate bonds

On 25 September 2009, Forte issued fi ve-year domestic corporate bonds with the par value of RMB1,900,000,000 and the effective 

interest rate is 7.73% per annum. The interest will be paid annually in arrears and the maturity date is 22 September 2014.

(4) Unsecured other borrowings

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Borrowings from third parties 876,330 1,046,679

The other borrowings bear interest at 2.55% 2.55%
 rates per annum in the range of to 12.18% to 9.34%

The carrying amounts of the Group’s current bank and other borrowings approximate to their fair values. 

The fair value of the Group’s non-current bank and other borrowings as at 31 December 2009 with a 

carrying amount of RMB11,913,006,000 (2008: RMB9,169,761,000) was RMB11,921,339,000 (2008: 

RMB9,215,012,000).
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36. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued)

Company

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Bank loans:

 Secured — 77,284

 Unsecured 482,286 859,838

482,286 937,122

Repayable:

 Within one year 411,848 796,020

 In the second year 70,438 70,551

 In the third to fi fth year, inclusive — 70,551

482,286 937,122

Portion classifi ed as current liabilities (411,848) (796,020)

Long term portion 70,438 141,102

The bank loans bear interest at 2.28% 2.83%

 rates per annum in the range of to 2.82% to 4.94%

The carrying amounts of the Company’s current bank loans approximate to their fair values. The fair 

value of the Company’s non-current bank loans as at 31 December 2009 with a carrying amount of 

RMB70,438,000 (2008: RMB141,102,000) was RMB69,456,000 (2008: RMB137,594,000).
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37. TRADE AND NOTES PAYABLES

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables 3,539,566 3,173,599

Notes payables 3,322,401 2,006,827

6,861,967 5,180,426

The carrying amounts of trade and notes payables approximate to their fair values.

An aged analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Outstanding balances with ages:

 Within 90 days 2,523,171 2,484,540

 91 to 180 days 414,585 402,703

 181 to 365 days 181,843 54,503

 1 to 2 years 345,306 175,311

 2 to 3 years 44,360 34,965

 Over 3 years 30,301 21,577

3,539,566 3,173,599

Credit terms granted by the Group’s suppliers are as follows:

Credit terms

Steel segment 0 to 90 days

Mining segment 0 to 90 days

Pharmaceuticals segment 0 to 360 days

Property development segment 180 to 360 days
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38. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Advances from customers 6,471,617 3,491,041

Payables related to:

 Purchases of property, plant and equipment 1,234,444 762,220

 Deposits received 452,549 244,665

 Payroll 366,327 321,456

 Business tax 115,170 24,177

 Accrued interest expenses 202,845 45,244

 Value-added tax 61,986 67,268

 Accrued utilities 163,774 138,553

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries (note 44(a)) 150,000 143,500

 Current portion of other long term payables (note 41) 73,728 12,200

 Others 1,238,626 681,250

10,531,066 5,931,574

Company

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Other payables 1,489 1,114

The carrying amounts of accrued liabilities and other payables, excluding advances from customers, 

approximate to their fair values.
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39. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Carrying amounts Fair values

2009 2008 2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Loans from

— a jointly-controlled entity 81,324 76,118 83,017 78,495

— an associate 25,294 — 25,286 —

—  a minority shareholder

 of a subsidiary — 76,075 — 77,813

Wholly repayable in the second

 to fourth year, inclusive 106,618 152,193 108,303 156,308

Loans from related companies are interest-free and unsecured. The fair values of these loans as at the 

date of inception were estimated with reference to the prevailing interest rate with the same repayment 

period published by the People’s Bank of China. The difference between the amount of loans payable 

and their fair values as at the date of inception was credited to the consolidated income statement. 

Subsequent to the initial recognition, these fi nancial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method.

40. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income represents government grants received related to assets.

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Special purpose fund for technology improvement 82,669 47,702
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41. OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Payables for rehabilitation:

 At 1 January 30,921 40,048

 Additions 453 415

 Interest increment (note 7) 2,832 2,658

 Classifi ed as current portion (note 38) — (12,200)

 At 31 December 34,206 30,921

Payables for retirement benefi ts:

 At 1 January 603,330 697,424

 Additions 22,424 —

 Interest increment (note 7) 24,117 31,215

 Payments made (48,628) (125,309)

 Classifi ed as current portion (note 38) (73,528) —

 At 31 December 527,715 603,330

Total 561,921 634,251

Payables for rehabilitation are in relation to the costs of the Group’s obligations for land reclamation.

Payables for retirement benefi ts represent liabilities taken over by the Group from the former parent 

company of the Former SOEs, which are State-owned enterprises, in respect of the retirement benefi ts of 

the Qualifi ed SOE Employees and the Qualifi ed Retirees.

The long term payables are based on estimates of future payments made by management and are 

discounted at rates in the range of 5.70% to 7.83%.



Annual Report 2009

Fosun International Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

167

42. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Authorised:

 100,000,000,000 (2008: 100,000,000,000) ordinary shares

  of HKD0.1 each 9,746,013 9,746,013

Issued and fully paid:

 6,421,594,500 (2008: 6,421,594,500) ordinary shares

  of HKD0.1 each 621,497 621,497

The following changes in the Company’s authorised and issued share capital took place during the period 

from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2009 are as follows:

Number of 

ordinary shares

Nominal value of 

ordinary shares

RMB’000

Authorised:

 As at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 100,000,000,000 9,746,013

Issued and fully paid:

 As at 1 January 2008 (6,437,500,000shares of HKD0.1 each) 6,437,500,000 622,962

 Repurchase and cancellation of shares (15,905,500) (1,465)

 As at 31 December 2008 and 31 December 2009 6,421,594,500 621,497
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43. RESERVES

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are 

presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity of the fi nancial statements.

Company

Issued capital Share premium

Exchange

fl uctuation

reserve

Capital

redemption 

reserve

(Accumulated

losses)/

Retained earnings

Proposed

fi nal dividend Total equity

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(note 42) (note 42) (note 11)

At 1 January 2008 622,962 11,785,713 (333,745) — (326,531) 1,022,219 12,770,618

Repurchase and cancellation of shares (note 42) (1,465) — — — (76,650) — (78,115)

Transfer on shares repurchased and cancelled 

 (note 42) — — — 1,465 (1,465) — —

Final dividend declared — — — — — (1,022,219) (1,022,219)

Proposed fi nal 2008 dividend (note 11) — — — — (453,051) 453,051 —

Exchange realignment — — (596,244) — — — (596,244)

Total comprehensive income for the year* — — — — 667,014 — 667,014

At 31 December 2008 and 1 January 2009 621,497 11,785,713 (929,989) 1,465 (190,683) 453,051 11,741,054

Final dividend declared (note 11) — — — — — (453,051) (453,051)

Proposed 2009 fi nal dividends (note 11) — — — — (927,270) 927,270 —

Exchange realignment — — (18,890) — — — (18,890)

Total comprehensive income for the year* — — — — 4,306,395 — 4,306,395

At 31 December 2009 621,497 11,785,713 (948,879) 1,465 3,188,442 927,270 15,575,508

* The consolidated profi t attributable to owners of the parent for the year ended 31 December 2009 includes a profi t of 

RMB4,306,395,000 (2008: RMB667,014,000) which has been dealt with in the fi nancial statements of the Company.

(a) Other defi cits

The opening balance of other defi cits as at 1 January 2008 represented the acquisition of the entire 

equity interest in Fosun Group pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group prior to the listing of 

its shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, after netting off paid-up capital and capital reserve 

(arising from the bonus share issue of its subsidiaries) of Fosun Group.
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43. RESERVES (continued)

(b) Statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR”)

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the respective articles of association of the 

subsidiaries established in Mainland China (the “PRC Subsidiaries”), each of the PRC Subsidiary is 

required to allocate 10% of its profi ts after tax, as determined in accordance with the applicable PRC 

accounting standards and regulations, to the SSR until such reserve reaches 50% of their respective 

registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part of the 

SSR can be capitalised as paid-up capital, provided that the remaining balance after the capitalisation 

is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

(c) Distributable reserves

For dividend purposes, the amount which the PRC subsidiaries can legally distribute by way of a 

dividend is determined by reference to the distributable profi ts as refl ected in their PRC statutory 

fi nancial statements which are prepared in accordance with the applicable PRC accounting standards 

and regulations.

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, profi ts after tax of the PRC subsidiaries can be 

distributed as dividends after the appropriation to the SSR as set out above.
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44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fair value recognised on acquisitions:

 Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 28,205 140,407

 Prepaid land lease payments (note 15) — 2,668

 Exploration and evaluation assets (note 16) — 5,000

 Mining rights (note 17) — 636,263

 Intangible assets (note 18) — 6,929

 Properties under development 1,389,678 159,832

 Cash and bank balances 8,356 21,445

 Trade and notes receivables 6,775 41

 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 7,222 172,985

 Inventories 9,103 13,469

 Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings (200,000) —

 Trade and notes payables (7,676) (6,807)

 Accrued liabilities and other payables (449,884) (176,610)

 Tax payable — (136)

 Deferred tax liabilities (note 28) — (89,039)

 Minority interests (4,550) (254,747)

787,229 631,700

Goodwill on acquisition (note 19) — 8,297

Excess over the cost of business combinations (note 6) — (6,520)

787,229 633,477

Satisfi ed by:

 Cash 637,229 479,332

 Investment in an associate — 10,645

 Cash consideration unpaid (note 38) 150,000 143,500

787,229 633,477
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44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(a) Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

An analysis of the net outfl ow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the acquisition of 

subsidiaries is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash consideration (637,229) (479,332)

Cash and bank balances acquired 8,356 21,445

Net outfl ow of cash and cash equivalents

 in respect of acquisition of subsidiaries (628,873) (457,887)

The major acquisition of a subsidiary during the year is set out as follows:

On 24 August 2009, Forte Group acquired a 100% equity interest in Nanjing Runchang 

Property Development Co., Ltd (“Nanjing Runchang”), a private limited company located in 

Nanjing, Mainland China. Nanjing Runchang is engaged in property development. The purchase 

consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash amounting to RMB625,000,000, of which 

RMB150,000,000 remained unpaid as at 31 December 2009.

The effect of the acquisitions on the fi nancial results of the Group from the date of acquisition to the 

end of the respective years is as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial results:

 Revenue 27,817 6,481

 Loss for the year (10,491) (15,823)

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the revenue of the Group and the 

profi t of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 would have been RMB34,882,738,000 

(2008: RMB40,255,033,000) and RMB6,823,159,000 (2008: RMB2,700,991,000), respectively.
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44. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Disposal of subsidiaries

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Net assets disposed of:

 Property, plant and equipment (note 13) 182 26,094

 Prepaid land lease payments (note 15) 1,846 —

 Cash and bank balances 259 16,641

 Trade and notes receivables — 51,329

 Available-for-sale investments — 5,000

 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,114 14,824

 Inventories 1,664 67,756

 Interest-bearing loans and other borrowings — (31,900)

 Trade and notes payables — (66,906)

 Accrued liabilities and other payables (2,459) (20,265)

 Tax payable — (205)

2,606 62,368

Minority interests — (30,867)

Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (notes 6) 494 4,710

3,100 36,211

Satisfi ed by:

 Cash 3,100 35,604

 Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — 607

3,100 36,211

An analysis of the net infl ow of cash and cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is 

as follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash consideration 3,100 35,604

Cash and bank balances disposed of (259) (16,641)

Net infl ow of cash and cash equivalents

 in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries 2,841 18,963
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45. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

On 31 October 2009, six management members of Shanghai Resource Property Consultancy Co., Ltd. 

(“Shanghai Resource”), a subsidiary of Forte, were granted with a 23% equity interest in Shanghai 

Resource for a consideration of RMB10,967,000. The fair value of the equity interest as at the grant 

date was RMB27,393,000, as valued by Sallmanns. The excess of the fair value over the consideration, 

being an incentive and reward to the six management members’ contribution to the successful operation 

of Shanghai Resource in past years, amounting to RMB16,426,000 was recognised as an equity-settled 

share-based payment and recorded in the staff costs on the date of the grant.

46. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties, as set out in note 14 to the fi nancial statements, under 

operating lease arrangements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had total future minimum lease receivables under non-

cancellable operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 32,333 17,233

In the second to fi fth year, inclusive 71,463 29,766

Over fi ve years 25,244 395

129,040 47,394

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its offi ce properties, shop lots, land and plant buildings under operating lease 

arrangements.
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46. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

As lessee (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group and the Company had total future minimum lease 

payments under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 64,555 38,862

In the second to fi fth year, inclusive 247,266 99,045

Over fi ve years 516,996 174,078

828,817 311,985

Company

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 1,679 2,961

In the second to fi fth year, inclusive — 1,481

1,679 4,442
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47. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in note 46 above, the Group and the Company 

had the following capital commitments at the end of the reporting period:

Group

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted, but not provided for:
In respect of:
 Plant and machinery 492,465 387,168
 Properties under development 4,531,525 4,108,550
 Intangible assets 23,899 —
 Prepaid land lease payments 5,600 —
 Investments 477,419 375,963

5,530,908 4,871,681

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Authorised, but not contracted for:
In respect of:
 Plant and machinery 950,843 41,462
 Investments 1,864,000 1,437,895

2,814,843 1,479,357

In addition, the Group’s share of the jointly-controlled entities’ own capital commitments, which are not 

included in the above, is as follows:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted but not provided for:
 Properties under development 33,499 6,022

Company

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Authorised, but not contracted for:
 Investments 1,864,000 1,437,895
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48. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities at the end of the reporting period:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Guaranteed bank loans of:

 Related parties (note 49) 846,800 1,867,500

 Third parties 50,000 491,000

896,800 2,358,500

Qualifi ed buyers’ mortgage loans* 2,762,666 1,938,549

3,659,466 4,297,049

* The Group provided guarantees of approximately RMB2,762,666,000 (2008: RMB1,938,549,000) in favour of their customers in respect 

of mortgage loans provided by banks to such customers for their purchases of the Group’s developed properties where the underlying 

real estate certifi cates can only be provided to the banks in a time delayed manner due to administrative procedures in the PRC. These 

guarantees provided by the Group will be released when the customers pledge their real estate certifi cates as security to the banks for 

the mortgage loans granted by the banks.

 The Directors consider that in case of default in payments, the net realisable value of the related properties can cover the outstanding 

mortgage principals together with the accrued interest and penalties and therefore no provision has been made in the fi nancial 

statements for the guarantees.
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere in these fi nancial statements, the Group 

had the following material transactions with related parties during the year:

Name of

related parties

Nature of

transactions

2009

RMB’000

2008

RMB’000

Sales of goods

Sinopharm Group

 Co. Ltd. (Notes 4 & 14)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

96,610 47,125

Shanghai Lianhua Fosun Pharmcy 

 Chain Operation Co., Ltd.

 (Notes 1, 4 & 14)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

26,896 22,622

Beijing Yongan Fosun

 Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

— 77

Shanghai Pharmacy

 Holdings Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

7,148 8,570

Suzhou Laishi Transfusion

 Equipment Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

6,268 1,822

Shanghai Liyi Pharmacy

 Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

5,103 3,622

Wanbang Anesiva (Jiangsu) 

Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

 (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

— 438

Guilin Auspicious Pharmaceutical

 lndustrial Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

581 439

Shanghai Huifeng Fosun

 Pharmacy Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Sales of pharmaceutical

 products

2,922 —

Ningbo Steel International

 Trading Co., Ltd. (Note 4)

Sales of iron ore

 products

— 105,245

Ningbo Iron & Steel Co.,

 Ltd. (Note 4)

Sales of iron and steel

 products

— 6,260

Total sales of goods 145,528 196,220
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Name of
related parties

Nature of
transactions

2009
RMB’000

2008
RMB’000

Purchases of goods
Sinopharm Group
 Co. Ltd. (Notes 4 & 14)

Purchases of
 pharmaceutical products

10,095 12,957

Wuhan Zhonglian Pharmaceutical
 Pharmaceutical Co.,
 Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Purchases of
 pharmaceutical products

— 668

Shanghai Pharmacy Holdings
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Purchases of
 pharmaceutical products

8,514 8,570

Suzhou Laishi Transfusion
 Equipment Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Purchases of
 pharmaceutical products

3,660 —

Ningbo Iron & Steel
 Co., Ltd. (Note 4)

Purchases of
 iron and steel products

— 132,333

Hainan Iron and Steel
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 3, 4 & 15)

Purchases of
 iron ore products

21,005 —

Shanxi Coking Coal Group
 Wulin Coal Coke Development
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 4)

Purchases of
 coking coal products

92,257 —

Total purchases of goods 135,531 154,528

Service income
Wuxi Forte Real Estate
 Development Co., Ltd.
 (Notes 2 & 5)

Consulting services
  provided to the

related company

— 4,302

Tangshan Jianlong Industrial
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 5)

Consulting services
  provided to the

related company

32,035 —

Wuxi Forte Real Estate
 Development Co., Ltd.
 (Notes 2 & 5)

Sales agency services
  provided to the

related company

877 928

Total service income 32,912 5,230
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Name of
related parties

Nature of
transactions

2009
RMB’000

2008
RMB’000

Interest income
Shaanxi Jianqin Real Estate
  Development Co., Ltd.

(Notes 2 & 7)

Interest income 13,740 21,981

Show All Limited (Notes 2 & 7) Interest income — 6,266

Total interest income 13,740 28,247

Interest expense
Shanghai Yuyuan Tourist
  Mart Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 7)

Interest expense 6,690 —

Other expenses
Shanghai Foreal Property
  Management Co., Ltd.

(Notes 1 & 6)

Property management
  services provided by the 

related company

13,392 11,096

Shanghai Yuyuan Tourist
  Mart Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 6)

Management fees — 6,628

Nanjing Xinwu Shipping
  Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 6)

Transportation fees 69,987 109,884

Nanjing Iron & Steel Group
  Co., Ltd. (Notes 3, 6 & 15)

Operating lease in respect of
  offi ce buildings leased from 

the related company

3,023 3,593

Hainan Iron and Steel Co.,
 Ltd. (Notes 3, 6 & 15)

Operating lease in respect of
  land lease from the related 

company

15,776 13,263

Total other expenses 102,178 144,464

Underlying notional interest of
 loans from related companies
Wuxi Forte Real Estate
  Development Co., Ltd.

(Notes 2 & 9)

Notional interest 5,206 5,093

Yangzte Tianjin Limited
 (Notes 3, 10 & 15)

Notional interest 5,840 5,396

Total notional interests 11,046 10,489
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Name of
related parties

Nature of
transactions

2009
RMB’000

2008
RMB’000

Loans from related companies
Tianjin Binhai Auto Parts
  Industry Base Co., Ltd.

(Notes 1 & 11)

Loan provided by the
 related company

28,000 —

Shanghai Yuyuan Tourist
 Mart Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 7)

Loan provided by the
 related company

247,792 —

Total loans from related companies 275,792 —

Guarantees of bank loans
Nanjing Iron & Steel Group
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 3, 8 & 15)

Bank loans guaranteed
 by the related company

3,272,288 4,392,200

Ningbo Iron & Steel
 Co., Ltd. (Note 8)

Guarantees granted for
  bank loans of the

related company

— 1,839,000

Nanjing Xinwu Shipping
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 8)

Guarantees granted for
  bank loans of the

related company

53,000 28,500

Tangshan Jianlong Industrial
 Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 8)

Guarantees granted for
  bank loans of the

related company

200,000 —

Shanxi Coking Coal Group
  Wulin Coal Coke Development

Co., Ltd. (Notes 1 & 8)

Guarantees granted for
  bank loans of the

related company

52,800 —

Beijing Yuquanxincheng
  Property Development Co., Ltd. 

(Notes 1 & 8)

Guarantees granted for
  bank loans of the

related company

100,000 —

Beijing Hehua Property
  Development Co., Ltd.

(Notes 1 & 8)

Guarantees granted for
  bank loans of the

related company

441,000 —

Loans to related companies
Shaanxi Jianqin Real Estate
  Development Co., Ltd.

(Notes 2 & 7)

Entrusted loan provided
 to the related company

220,000 —

Show All Limited (Notes 2 & 12) Shareholder loan provided
 to the related company

— 126,400

Shaanxi Jianqin Real Estate
  Development Co., Ltd.
 (Notes 2 & 12)

Shareholder loan provided
 to the related company

— 140,000

Total loans to related companies 220,000 266,400
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes:

(1) They are associates of the Group.

(2) They are jointly-controlled entities of the Group.

(3) They are minority shareholders of the subsidiaries of the Group.

(4) The Directors consider that the sales and purchases were undertaken on commercial terms similar to those offered to/by unrelated 

customers/suppliers in the ordinary course of business of the relevant companies.

(5) The Directors consider that the fees for consulting services and sales agency services were determined based on prices available to third 

party customers.

(6) The Directors consider that the fees for property management services, management services, transportation services and leasing paid to 

related companies were determined based on prices available to third party customers of the related companies.

(7) The Directors consider that the loans provided by/to the related companies are unsecured, repayable on demand, and the applicable 

interest rates are determined in accordance with the prevailing market borrowing rates.

(8) The bank loans were guaranteed by related companies free of charge. The guarantees were given by the Group for bank loans of related 

companies free of charge.

(9) The entrusted bank loan in the amount of RMB93,000,000 is provided by Wuxi Forte Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and is interest-

free, unsecured and repayable by 2012 as set out in note 39 to the fi nancial statements. The corresponding notional interest for the year 

ended 31 December 2009 amounted to approximately RMB5,206,000 (2008: RMB5,093,000).

(10) The loan in the amount of RMB99,716,000 is provided by Yangzte Tianjin Limited, a minority shareholder of Tianjin Forte, and is 

interest-free, unsecured and repayable by 2010. The corresponding notional interest for the year ended 31 December 2009 amounted to 

approximately RMB5,840,000 (2008: RMB5,396,000).

(11) The loan in the amount of RMB28,000,000 is provided by Tianjin Binhai Auto Parts Industry Base Co., Ltd. and is interest-free, unsecured 

and repayable by 2011 as set out in note 39 to the fi nancial statements.

(12) The shareholder loans in the amount of RMB290,000,000 are provided to Shaanxi Jianqin Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. and loans 

amounting to RMB126,400,000 are provided to Show All Limited as set out in note 21 to the fi nancial statements.

(13) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Short term employee benefi ts 12,529 12,210

Pension scheme contributions 252 154

Total compensation paid to key management personnel 12,781 12,364
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49. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(14) These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for the period 

ended 15 October 2009. The Group confi rmed that it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of 

the Listing Rules in respect of these transactions. On 15 October 2009, Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical Development Company Limited, 

a subsidiary of Fosun Pharma completed its transfer of 1% of the total issued shares of Forte to Fosun Group. From 15 October 2009, 

Shanghai Lianhua Fosun Pharmacy Chain Operation Co., Ltd. and Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd. ceased to be connected persons of the 

Company and these transactions no longer constituted continuing connected transactions of the Group.

(15) These transactions constitute continuing connected transactions of the Group under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. They are 

exempted from the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows:

2009 Group

Financial assets

Financial assets at 

fair value through

profi t or loss-held

for trading

Held-

to-maturity 

investments

Loans and 

receivables

Available-

for-sale

fi nancial

assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Held-to-maturity

 investments — 79,220 — — 79,220

Available-for-sale

 investments — — — 2,943,458 2,943,458

Loans receivable — — 220,000 — 220,000

Cash and bank balances — — 15,947,571 — 15,947,571

Equity investments at fair

  value through profi t

or loss 4,922,253 — — — 4,922,253

Trade and notes receivables — — 4,768,991 — 4,768,991

Financial assets included

  in prepayments,

deposits and other 

receivables (note 33) — — 2,040,152 — 2,040,152

Due from related companies — — 1,100,497 — 1,100,497

4,922,253 79,220 24,077,211 2,943,458 32,022,142
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows: (continued)

2009 Group (continued)

Financial liabilities
Financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 28,705,369
Loans from related companies 106,618
Trade and notes payables 6,861,967
Financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other payables (note 38) 4,059,449
Due to related companies and the holding company 1,224,172
Other long term payables 561,921

41,519,496

2008 Group

Financial assets
Financial assets at 
fair value through 
profi t or loss-held 

for trading

Held-
to-maturity 

investments
Loans and 

receivables

Available-
for-sale

fi nancial
assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Held-to-maturity
 investments — 63,761 — — 63,761
Available-for-sale
 investments — — — 1,905,289 1,905,289
Loans receivable — — 220,000 — 220,000
Cash and bank balances — — 11,691,015 — 11,691,015
Equity investments at fair
  value through profi t
 or loss 1,534,899 — — — 1,534,899
Trade and notes receivables — — 2,441,440 — 2,441,440
Financial assets included
  in prepayments,

deposits and other 
receivables (note 33) — — 1,953,329 — 1,953,329

Due from related companies — — 830,953 — 830,953

1,534,899 63,761 17,136,737 1,905,289 20,640,686
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows: (continued)

2008 Group (continued)

Financial liabilities
Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 24,398,289

Loans from related companies 152,193

Trade and notes payables 5,180,426

Financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other payables (note 38) 2,440,533

Due to related companies and the holding company 1,432,954

Other long term payables 634,251

34,238,646

2009 Company

Financial assets

Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profi t or 

loss-held for 

trading

Held-to-

maturity 

investments

Loans and 

receivables Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Held-to-maturity investments — 35,320 — 35,320

Equity investments at fair 

 value through profi t or loss 4,106,493 — — 4,106,493

Cash and bank balances — — 2,458,576 2,458,576

Financial assets included in 

 prepayments, deposits and 

 other receivables (note 33) — — 1,567 1,567

Due from subsidiaries — — 8,334,529 8,334,529

4,106,493 35,320 10,794,672 14,936,485
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows: (continued)

2009 Company (continued)

Financial liabilities
Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other payables (note 38) 1,489

Interest-bearing bank loans 482,286

Due to the holding company 878,749

1,362,524

2008 Company

Financial assets

Financial 

assets at fair 

value through 

profi t or 

loss-held for 

trading

Held-to-

maturity 

investments

Loans and 

receivables Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Held-to-maturity investments — 31,696 — 31,696

Equity investments at fair value

 through profi t or loss 1,534,709 — — 1,534,709

Cash and bank balances — — 1,181,140 1,181,140

Financial assets included in

  prepayments, deposits and other 

receivables (note 33) — — 1,547 1,547

Due from subsidiaries — — 8,495,874 8,495,874

1,534,709 31,696 9,678,561 11,244,966
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50. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of fi nancial instruments as at the end of the reporting 

period are as follows: (continued)

2008 Company (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost

RMB’000

Financial liabilities included in accrued liabilities and other payables (note 38) 1,114

Interest-bearing bank loans 937,122

Due to the holding company 568,819

1,507,055
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51. FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of fi nancial 

instruments:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which all inputs which have a signifi cant 

effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation techniques for which all inputs which have a signifi cant 

effect on the recorded fair value are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)

As at 31 December 2009, the Group and the Company held the following fi nancial assets measured at fair 

value while no fi nancial liabilities were measured at fair value.

Assets measured at fair value as at 31 December 2009:

Group

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Available-for-sale investments:

 Equity investments (note 24) 868,773 — — 868,773

Equity investments at fair value

 through profi t or loss 4,922,253 — — 4,922,253

5,791,026 — — 5,791,026

Company

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Equity investments at fair value

 through profi t or loss 4,106,493 — — 4,106,493

During the year ended 31 December 2009, there were no transfers of fair value measurements between 

Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3.
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal fi nancial instruments comprise bank and other borrowings, and cash and short term 

deposits. The main purpose of these fi nancial instruments is to raise fi nance for the Group’s operations. 

The Group has various other fi nancial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, 

which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also entered into derivative transactions, representing forward currency contracts, during the 

year ended 31 December 2009. The purpose is to manage the currency risks arising from the Group’s 

operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s fi nancial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency 

risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for 

managing each of these risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s accounting policies in relation 

to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the fi nancial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long 

term debt obligations with fl oating interest rate.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fi xed and variable rate debts. At 31 

December 2009, approximately 31% (2008: 24%) of the Group’s interest-bearing borrowings bore 

interest at fi xed rates.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with 

all other variable held constant, of the Group’s profi t before tax (through the impact on fl oating rate 

borrowings).

Group:

Increase/(decrease) 
in basis points

Increase/(decrease) 
in profi t before tax

RMB’000

2009 27 (29,998)
(81) 89,994

2008 27 (19,538)
(81) 57,758
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from sales or purchases by 

operating units and investing and fi nancing activities by investment holding units in currencies other than 

the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably 

possible change in the United States dollar and Hong Kong dollar exchange rate, with all other variables 

held constant, of the Group’s profi t before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and 

liabilities).

Group:

Increase/

decrease in

foreign

currency rate

Increase/

(decrease)

in profi t

before tax

% RMB’000

2009

If RMB weakens against United States dollar 5 (19,423)

If RMB strengthens against United States dollar 5 19,423

If RMB weakens against Hong Kong dollar 5 58,334

If RMB strengthens against Hong Kong dollar 5 (58,334)

2008

If RMB weakens against United States dollar 5 36,623

If RMB strengthens against United States dollar 5 (36,623)

If RMB weakens against Hong Kong dollar 5 29,560

If RMB strengthens against Hong Kong dollar 5 (29,560)
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all 

customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verifi cation procedures. In addition, 

receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not 

signifi cant.

The credit risk of the Group’s other fi nancial assets, which comprise cash and bank balances, held-to-

maturity investments, available-for-sale investments, equity investments at fair value through profi t or loss, 

amounts due from related companies, and other receivable, arises from the default of the counterparty, 

with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for 

collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region 

and by industry sector. There are no signifi cant concentrations of credit risk within the Group as the 

customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables were widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables 

are disclosed in note 32 to the fi nancial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and fl exibility through the 

use of bank loans and other interest-bearing loans. The Group’s policy is that not more than 80% of the 

borrowings should mature in any 12-month period. 69% (2008: 62%) of the Group’s debts would mature 

in less than one year as at 31 December 2009 based on the carrying value of borrowings refl ected in the 

fi nancial statements.
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profi le of the Group’s and the Company’s fi nancial liabilities as at the end of the reporting 

period, based on the contractual undiscounted payment, was as follows:

2009 Group

On demand

Less than 3 

months

3 to

less than 12 

months 1 to 5 years over 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank

 and other borrowings — 1,793,969 14,998,394 8,474,429 3,486,683 28,753,475

Loans from related companies — — — 121,000 — 121,000

Trade and notes payables 1,983,529 1,957,762 2,920,676 — — 6,861,967

Due to related companies 345,423 — — — — 345,423

Due to the holding company 878,749 — — — — 878,749

Financial liabilities included in

  accrued liabilities and other 

payables 4,020,921 — 38,528 — — 4,059,449

Other long term payables — — — 484,471 200,233 684,704

7,228,622 3,751,731 17,957,598 9,079,900 3,686,916 41,704,767

2008 Group

On demand

Less than 3 

months

3 to

less than 12 

months 1 to 5 years over 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank and

 other borrowings 177,284 1,417,024 13,634,220 9,083,306 86,455 24,398,289

Loans from related companies — — — 180,467 — 180,467

Trade and notes payables 1,727,793 1,966,480 1,486,153 — — 5,180,426

Due to related companies 864,135 — — — — 864,135

Due to the holding company 568,819 — — — — 568,819

Financial liabilities included in

  accrued liabilities and other 

payables 2,440,533 — — — — 2,440,533

Other long term payables — — — 669,725 220,416 890,141

5,778,564 3,383,504 15,120,373 9,933,498 306,871 34,522,810

In addition, the guarantees provided by the Group will be called in case of default in payments by the 

guarantees as set out in note 48.
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

2009 Company

On demand

Less than 3 

months

3 to

less than 12 

months 1 to 5 years over 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank

 and other borrowings — — 411,849 70,438 — 482,287

Due to the holding company 878,749 — — — — 878,749

Financial liabilities included in

  accrued liabilities and

other payables 1,489 — — — — 1,489

880,238 — 411,849 70,438 — 1,362,525

2008 Company

On demand

Less than 3 

months

3 to

less than 12 

months 1 to 5 years over 5 years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank

 and other borrowings 77,284 683,460 35,276 141,102 — 937,122

Due to the holding company 568,819 — — — — 568,819

Financial liabilities included in

  accrued liabilities and

other payables 1,114 — — — — 1,114

647,217 683,460 35,276 141,102 — 1,507,055

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities decrease as a result of changes in 

the levels of equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is exposed to equity price 

risk arising from individual equity investments classifi ed as trading equity investments (note 31) and 

available-for-sale investments measured at fair value (note 24) as at 31 December 2009. The Group’s 

listed investments are listed on the Hong Kong, Shenzhen, Shanghai, United States and Singapore stock 

exchanges and are valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.



Annual Report 2009

Fosun International Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements

193

52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5% change in the fair values of the equity 

investments, with all other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based on their carrying 

amounts at the end of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis, for the available-for-sale 

equity investments, the impact is deemed to be on the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve 

and no account is given for factors such as impairment which might impact the income statement.

Carrying amount 
of equity 

investments

Increase
in profi t

before tax
Increase

in equity
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2009

Investments listed in:

 Hong Kong — Available-for-sale 275,074 — 13,754
— Held-for-trading 5,949 297 —

 Shenzhen — Available-for-sale 113,771 — 5,689

 Shanghai — Available-for-sale 25,313 — 1,266
— Held-for-trading 804,058 40,000 —

 United States — Available-for-sale 454,615 — 22,731
— Held-for-trading 4,100,976 205,049 —

 Singapore — Held-for-trading 11,270 564 —

2008

Investments listed in:

 Hong Kong — Available-for-sale 73,490 — 3,675
— Held-for-trading 49,637 2,482 —

 Shenzhen — Available-for-sale 107,582 — 5,379
— Held-for-trading 96 5 —

 Shanghai — Available-for-sale 57,962 — 2,898
— Held-for-trading 94 5 —

 United States — Available-for-sale 154,558 — 7,728
— Held-for-trading 1,485,072 74,254 —
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52. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 

maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it in light of changes in economic 

conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to 

shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, 

policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2009 and 31 December 2008.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total equity plus net debt. 

The Group’s policy is to keep the gearing ratio between 20% to 60%. Net debt includes interest-bearing 

bank and other borrowings, and loans from related companies, less cash and cash equivalents. Total 

equity includes equity attributable to owners of the parent and minority interests. The gearing ratios as at 

the ends of the reporting periods were as follows:

Group

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 28,705,369 24,398,289

Loans from related companies 106,618 152,193

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (10,550,240) (9,577,695)

Net debt 18,261,747 14,972,787

Total equity 36,328,087 30,043,087

Total equity and net debt 54,589,834 45,015,874

Gearing ratio 33% 33%
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53. OTHER SIGNIFICANT MATTERS

During the year, the Company further acquired an aggregate of 15,767,000 American Depository Shares 

(“ADS”) of Focus Media Holding Limited (“Focus Media”) at a total consideration of approximately 

RMB765,000,000 and Fosun Industrial Co., Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, further acquired 

4,928,770 ADS of Tongjitang Chinese Medicines Company (“Tongjitang”) at a total consideration of 

approximately RMB114,300,000.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group held approximately 25.80% and 32.09% of the total issued share 

capital of Focus Media and Tongjitang, respectively. The Group’s interests in these entities are not 

accounted for under the equity method because the Group has no signifi cant infl uence over these entities 

by way of representation on the board of directors and participation in the policy-making process, despite 

the fact that the Group’s equity interests in these entities were higher than 20% as at 31 December 2009.

54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(a) On 7 January 2010, China Alliance Properties Limited (“China Alliance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary 

of Forte, entered into a subscription agreement with Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (“Zendai 

Property”), a company listed on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange, pursuant to 

which China Alliance agreed to subscribe for 1,550,000,000 new ordinary shares issued by Zendai 

Property for a consideration of HKD480,500,000. Immediately after the completion of subscription 

on 26 January 2010, China Alliance held 2,431,815,000 shares of Zendai Property, representing 

approximately 19.68% of the issued share capital of Zendai Property as enlarged by the allotment 

and issue of the subscription shares.

(b) On 27 January 2010, Fosun Pharma, a subsidiary of the Company, was approved conditionally by the 

Public Offering Review Committee of the China Securities Regulatory Commission for the issue of 

additional A shares by way of private placement to Fosun Group and other designated investors (the 

“A Share Issue”). According to the proposal in regard to the A Share Issue, the total number of A 

shares via non-public issue is no less than 200,000,000 and no more than 460,000,000, and Fosun 

Group will subscribe for more than 8% and no more than 30% of the total number of issued shares 

with a consideration of no more than RMB600,000,000.

(c) On 10 February 2010, Skysail Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Forte, entered into 

an equity transfer agreement with Garden Plaza 2005 (Delaware) LLC, Garden Plaza 2007 (Delaware) 

LLC, Garden Plaza DM 2007 (Delaware) LLC and Baekdu Investments Limited to acquire the entire 

issued share capital of Garden Plaza Capital SRL, a society with restricted liability organised and 

existing under the laws of Barbados for a total consideration of USD328,000,000. Garden Plaza 

Capital SRL owns two pieces of land measuring 116,822 square meters and the property with a total 

construction area of 97,227 square meters in Shanghai, China through its PRC subsidiary.
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54. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(d) On 24 February 2010, Fosun Group, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and The 

Carlyle Group (“Carlyle”), entered into an agreement, pursuant to which a jointly-operated RMB 

fund namely Fosun-Carlyle (Shanghai) Equity Investment Fund (“Fosun-Carlyle Fund”) would be 

established with an initial investment of USD100,000,000. Fosun Group and Carlyle’s Asia Growth 

Fund committed USD50,000,000 to the fund, respectively. On 3 March 2010, Fosun-Carlyle Fund 

obtained the business licence from Shanghai Administration of Industry and Commerce and 

completed the registration process.

55. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassifi ed to conform to the current year’s presentation.

56. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fi nancial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 24 March 

2010.
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Glossary

Glossary

FORMULA

EBITDA = profi t for the year + tax + interest expenses + depreciation and amortisation

Total debt = current and non-current interest-bearing borrowings + interest-free loans from related 

parties

Total capitalisation = equity attributable to owners of the parent + minority interests + total debt

Interest coverage = EBITDA/interest expenses

Capital employed = equity attributable to owners of the parent + total debt

Associate has the same meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

Articles of Association  the current articles of association of the Company with the latest 

amendments made on 17 June 2008

the Board the board of Directors

CG Code the Code on Corporate Governance Practices contained in Appendix 14 of 

the Listing Rules

the Company Fosun International Limited

the Director(s) the director(s) of the Company

Focus Media  Focus Media Holding Limited

Forte Shanghai Forte Land Co., Ltd.

Forte Group  Forte and its subsidiaries

Fosun Group  Shanghai Fosun High Technology (Group) Co., Ltd.

Fosun Holdings Fosun Holdings Limited

Fosun International Holdings Fosun International Holdings Ltd.

Fosun Pharma Shanghai Fosun Pharmaceutical (Group) Co., Ltd.

GFA gross fl oor area

the Group the Company and its subsidiaries

Hainan Mining Hainan Mining United Co., Ltd.
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HKD Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

Hong Kong  the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of China

Huaxia Mining  Beijing Huaxia Jianlong Mining Technology Co., Ltd.

Jianlong Group  Tangshan Jianlong Industrial Co., Ltd.

Jin’an Mining  Anhui Jin’an Mining Co., Ltd.

Listing Rules the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange

Model Code the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers 

contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

Nanjing Iron & Steel  Nanjing Iron & Steel Co., Ltd.

Nanjing Steel United Nanjing Iron & Steel United Co., Ltd.

PRC the People’s Republic of China

Reporting Period the year ended 31 December 2009

RMB Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

SFO the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 

Kong)

Shanjiaowulin  Shanxi Coking Coal Group Wulin Coal Coke Development Co., Ltd.

Shares the shares of the Company

Share Option Scheme the share option scheme of the Company adopted on 19 June 2007

Sinopharm  Sinopharm Group Co. Ltd.

Stock Exchange The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

USD United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

Yong’an Insurance  Yong’an Insurance Co., Ltd.

Yuyuan Shanghai Yuyuan Tourist Mart Co., Ltd.

Zhaojin Mining  Zhaojin Mining Industry Co., Ltd.

Zunyi Shiji  Zunyi County Shiji Nonferrous Metal Limited Liability Company
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